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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We're waiting

          3  for Speaker Quinn to join us.  Pardon.  Okay.

          4                 Good afternoon. I'm Council Member

          5  Jim Gennaro, Chair of the Committee on Environmental

          6  Protection.  This is a hearing of the Environmental

          7  Protection Committee on the Fiscal 2008 Preliminary

          8  Budget.  Today we'll hear testimony from DEP about

          9  their Expense and Capital Preliminary Budget Actions

         10  and general Agency operations.

         11                 This hearing marks a first in my

         12  tenure here at the Council, for the first time in

         13  many years  --  and here she is. We're happy to be

         14  joined by Council Speaker Christine Quinn. Chris, a

         15  pleasure for you to be here.  Thank you.

         16                 As I was saying, for the first time

         17  in many years, the Council is holding separate

         18  budget hearings on Capital and Expense for some of

         19  the larger capital City agencies, and in recognition

         20  of this significant occasion, we have the honor of

         21  welcoming our City Council Speaker, Chris Quinn, to

         22  our hearing today.  Thank you, Speaker Quinn, for

         23  your presence and for your support and outstanding

         24  track record on issues related to the City's

         25  environment.
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          2                 DEP comes before the Council today to

          3  testify on its Preliminary Fiscal 2008 Capital and

          4  Expense Plan.  DEP's Capital Plan is of great

          5  interest to this Committee certainly. DEP's Plan, as

          6  it has been presented to the Council, is nearly $6

          7  billion dollars greater than the plan that we

          8  adopted in Fiscal '07.  These increases while likely

          9  for necessary capital construction cannot be

         10  ignored.

         11                 Perhaps it's obvious that I'm doing

         12  this without the help of reading glasses, which have

         13  been lost.  If anyone finds them, please tell me.

         14  No.  Mark Lanigan is offering me his glasses.  Now

         15  there is a public servant.  Thank you.  Thank you,

         16  Mark, but I'm good.  I'm going to soldier on.  Where

         17  was I?

         18                 The Committee looks forward to

         19  hearing from DEP as to the rationale for these

         20  increases, and how these increases could have an

         21  affect on water and sewer rates in years to come.

         22  The Committee plans to discuss a variety of other

         23  important issues with DEP today including the

         24  Agency's plans regarding EPA's Filtration Avoidance

         25  Determination, otherwise known as the FAD,
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          2  particularly as it relates to land acquisition in

          3  the watershed area, the Department's Watershed

          4  Protection Plan for Jamaica Bay, the Watershed

          5  Protection Program and Watershed Security, Federal

          6  and State consent orders, the Delaware Aqueduct, the

          7  Croton Water Filtration Plant and flooding problems

          8  in Queens and DEP's efforts with respect to air

          9  quality and noise abatement.

         10                 Before proceeding to the Department's

         11  witnesses, I see we have First Deputy Commissioner,

         12  Steve Lawitts here from DEP, and other good folks

         13  from DEP.  I would like to spend a moment on one of

         14  these issues, the issue of the protection of New

         15  York City's Watershed.  There is little question

         16  that New York City's Watershed is currently

         17  experiencing a substantial escalation in development

         18  pressure.  Many of you have become aware of plans to

         19  put gambling casinos right outside the watershed

         20  area, and, certainly, we feel that that's going to

         21  have an impact on development in the area.  So there

         22  certainly is a pressure to do more development up

         23  there, and land prices which are going up, both of

         24  which have no end in sight.

         25                 It also certainly seems clear that
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          2  because of this, unless the City has an equally

          3  substantial watershed land acquisition effort fixed

          4  in place, the City's loss of its FAD in the

          5  foreseeable future and the unthinkable, a $6 to $10

          6  billion dollar filtration plant and a corresponding

          7  50 percent increase in the water rates for New York

          8  City residents becomes a real possibility.

          9                 Second, it seems clear that a

         10  substantial watershed acquisition effort, including

         11  a level of financial commitment to support it, is

         12  critically needed.

         13                 The DEP has testified before my

         14  Committee on several occasions over the past year

         15  including at a recent hearing on January 30th, that

         16  it intends to pursue  --  DEP said it intends to

         17  pursue the same average rate of land acquisition

         18  over the next five years that it has achieved over

         19  the last ten years, which is about seven to eight

         20  thousand acres per year.  We have DEP on the record

         21  stating that.

         22                 None the less, I have yet to see the

         23  Department propose funding that will get us to that

         24  goal.  This is extremely troubling and an area of

         25  the proposed DEP Capital Budget that I hope to
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          2  discuss at length today.  So with that said  --

          3  Okay.

          4                 Before we bring on our panel and

          5  recognize the other Council Members, we want to hear

          6  from Speaker Chris Quinn.  But actually before Chris

          7  does speak, I want to recognize that we're joined by

          8  Council Member Vallone from Queens and Council

          9  Member Stewart from Brooklyn.  So it's my honor to

         10  call upon Speaker, Chris Quinn, for remarks.

         11                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you.  First, I

         12  want to thank Jim very much for chairing this

         13  additional hearing on DEP's Capital Budget.  I

         14  think, as a lot of folks know, for the 15 or so

         15  months I've been Speaker I've made a big priority of

         16  trying to reform how we do the budget in the City of

         17  New York and we made a tremendous amount of progress

         18  in our first year as it relates to the Expense

         19  Budget of the City of New York moving forward on

         20  units of appropriations and agencies, and budgets

         21  being written in a program format, baselining, a

         22  number of important initiatives at the end of last

         23  year's budget and then baselining even more

         24  initiatives in the Preliminary Budget this year.  We

         25  are very proud of that progress that we've made
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          2  working so closely with the Mayor.

          3                 This year, one of the things we want

          4  to additionally do is branch out and try to look

          5  more comprehensively at the Capital Budget overall

          6  for the City of New York.

          7                 You know historically the way the

          8  Council had interacted with the Capital Budget

          9  largely related to requests for projects in our own

         10  individual districts, and that will continue because

         11  it is appropriate for members to request that

         12  libraries and parks and schools get upgraded in

         13  their districts, but there are also larger questions

         14  in the Capital Budget.  Questions that relate to the

         15  Expense Budget as it relates to debt service and how

         16  much New Yorkers are paying off debt in the long

         17  term.  But there's also big questions about whether

         18  or not, in my opinion, we need to be doing more

         19  oversight on questions of the City's infrastructure

         20  and the City's hidden infrastructure, and are we

         21  doing enough as it relates to focusing the Capital

         22  Budget in areas that New Yorkers don't see, but are

         23  critical to keeping their lives in order and keep

         24  services running.  So one way we want to begin to

         25  become more involved in oversight on the Capital
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          2  Budget was by having hearings specific to the

          3  Capital Budget, and Committees like this one, and

          4  for agencies like the Department of Environmental

          5  Protection which have large capital budgets and

          6  capital budgets that are really critical to making

          7  sure that services are operating in the best way

          8  possible in the City of New York.  And that we're

          9  also, in the long term, investing taxpayer money in

         10  a way that will, hopefully, keep City services in

         11  tact for them.

         12                 So I want to thank the Chair for

         13  allowing me to participate in today's hearing and

         14  look forward to this as really a start in our

         15  efforts to get more involved and engage in greater

         16  oversight and more focused long- term planning

         17  through the City's Capital Budget.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Madam

         19  Speaker.  I just want to not only thank you, Madam

         20  Speaker, but your great finance team which does so

         21  much for us.  Mike Keogh, I believe is still here

         22  maybe.

         23                 SPEAKER QUINN: His cell phone rang.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay and

         25  Jonathan Rosenberg, Veronica McNeil, Jeff Rotus
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          2  (phonetic), all the people from the finance staff

          3  that make it such a great operation.  I want to

          4  thank also the staff's committee, Donna DeCostanzo,

          5  Dan Avery, my own Chief of Staff, Peter Washburn.

          6                 With that said, I will call upon the

          7  first panel, DEP.  I already mentioned that we are

          8  joined by Steve Lawitts, Joe Singleton.  Steve is

          9  First Deputy Commissioner at DEP.  Joe Murin, it's a

         10  pleasure to have you here, Joe.  I did get a phone

         11  call from the Commissioner indicating that she

         12  couldn't be here today so we had a discussion on

         13  that.  I understand that she has a family matter to

         14  attend to and certainly I respect that.  I thank you

         15  all very much for being here and all the great DEP

         16  team that we have in attendance.  I'll ask the

         17  Counsel to the Committee, Donna Diconstanzo to swear

         18  the witnesses, and then after which you can state

         19  your names for the record and commence with your

         20  testimony.

         21                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         22  raise your right hand.  In the testimony that you

         23  are about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell

         24  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         25  truth?

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I do.

          3                 MR. SINGLETON: I do.

          4                 MR. MURIN: I do.

          5                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Go for it,

          7  Steve.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Thank

          9  you, Chairman Gennaro and Speaker Quinn, and members

         10  of the Committee on Environmental Protection.

         11  Before I begin with my prepared statement, I do want

         12  to express our appreciation to you, Speaker Quinn,

         13  for the attention that you're paying to our

         14  infrastructure needs by being here.  Thank you on

         15  behalf of Commissioner, Emily Lloyd, as Chairman

         16  Gennaro said could not be here today because she

         17  needed to be out of town.  I want to thank you for

         18  this opportunity to present testimony on the

         19  Department of Environmental Protection Fiscal Year

         20  2008 Preliminary Budget.  I am joined by Joseph

         21  Murin, our Assistant Commissioner of Budget, on my

         22  left, and Joseph Singleton, Deputy Commissioner of

         23  Customer Services, on my right. We have additional

         24  deputy commissioners and assistant commissioners to

         25  answer questions as necessary.
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          2                 This year marks the 100 year

          3  anniversary of New York City's Catskill water

          4  system.  Having said that I will skip over the

          5  historical portion of this statement.  Aside from

          6  the coincidence of this centennial, 2007 marks two

          7  planning initiatives, the biannual review of the

          8  City's Ten- Year Capital Strategy, and Mayor

          9  Bloomberg's PlaNYC goals for the year 2030. The

         10  former establishes, in financial terms, DEP

         11  priorities and expenditures for the next decade,

         12  while the latter provides guidance and context for

         13  these investments, ensuring that they lead to

         14  sustainable, long- term benefits for the City's

         15  environment and the health of its growing

         16  population, which is projected to reach nine million

         17  residents by 2030.

         18                 Already in a sustained period of

         19  substantial infrastructure investment, DEP has

         20  identified four priorities requiring immediate

         21  attention and long- term planning.  One, the

         22  increased dependability and enhanced protection of

         23  New York's water supply.  Two, the continued

         24  mitigation of combined sewer overflows, or CSO's,

         25  upgrade of water pollution control plants and
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          2  implementation of new technologies to improve the

          3  quality of New York's waterways.  Three, fixing

          4  customer service and billing, and improving revenue

          5  collection by enhancing technology and redesigning

          6  business practices.  And four, compliance with all

          7  relevant Environmental, Health and Safety

          8  regulations in pursuit of effectively maintained

          9  facilities and a safer work environment.

         10                 In pursuit of these four objectives,

         11  DEP's FY 2008 Preliminary Budget commits funds to

         12  hundreds of individual projects, ranging from major

         13  capital investments to the localized implementation

         14  of sustainable technologies, that will collectively

         15  allow DEP to fulfill its obligation to the public

         16  and meet the strategic goals outlined by PlaNYC and

         17  the Ten- Year Capital Strategy.

         18                 DEP's current FY 2007 modified

         19  Operating Budget is $909 million dollars.  The FY

         20  2008 Preliminary Expense Budget is $883 million.

         21  This figure accounts for the collective bargaining

         22  settlements for DC 37, the Communication Workers of

         23  America and some other union locals.  The

         24  Preliminary Expense Budget does not yet include

         25  likely adjustments for a variety of baseline funding
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          2  needs, such as collective bargaining agreements for

          3  other unions; a 25 percent increase in the City-

          4  wide fringe- benefits rate; expected increases in

          5  the price of chemicals used in the wastewater

          6  treatment plants; and property taxes that the City

          7  must pay for it's upstate land.

          8                 Complementing the Expense Budget is a

          9  comprehensive capital strategy.  As you know, while

         10  the Expense Budget allocates funds for annual

         11  operating needs, such as personnel, maintenance and

         12  supplies, the Capital Budget plans investments for

         13  DEP's future.  Updated every two years, the Ten-

         14  Year Capital Strategy establishes long- term

         15  projects that advance DEP's ability to fulfill it's

         16  mission and guarantee the continued supply of

         17  abundant, potable water for decades to come.

         18                 Our task is twofold.  We must design,

         19  build and operate new infrastructure that honors the

         20  sound engineering of the City's past, infrastructure

         21  that will provide health and safety to entirely new

         22  generations of New Yorkers.  And we must renovate

         23  those systems already in existence, so that they can

         24  continue to effectively serve the City.

         25                 In recognition of these two charges,
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          2  the FY 2008 Ten- Year Capital Strategy commits $19.5

          3  billion dollars to DEP for the ten- year period from

          4  Fiscal Years 2008 through FY 2017.  The FY 2006

          5  Capital Strategy committed $15.9 billion dollars

          6  over ten years.  Including the FY 2007 Capital

          7  Budget allocation of $3.7 billion dollars, the

          8  total, eleven- year, 2007 through 2017 Capital

          9  Budget is $23.2 billion.  The increase reflects a

         10  number of necessary financial adjustments for

         11  individual programs.  As of the January Plan, the

         12  Ten- Year Strategy commits $3.5 billion dollars for

         13  FY 2008, much of which will be devoted to the

         14  priorities outlined earlier.

         15                 The size of DEP's Capital Budget

         16  reflects the enormity of the City's existing water

         17  infrastructure and the scope and complexity of new

         18  work, much of it required by State and Federal

         19  consent orders.  These consent orders mandate

         20  specific scopes, schedules and standards for capital

         21  projects, but require the City to bear nearly all of

         22  the costs.  Failure to meet these guidelines carries

         23  the potential for significant penalties.  These

         24  factors, combined with the particular design

         25  specifications of several projects, necessitate
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          2  consideration of a budget that can fund the design

          3  and construction of major projects in a small window

          4  of time.

          5                 To ensure that DEP's many capital

          6  projects and their budgets are managed efficiently,

          7  Commissioner Lloyd has instituted an ongoing review

          8  of DEP's capital plan.  This process will provide

          9  additional guidance and oversight to major projects

         10  as they progress from initial planning to design to

         11  completion.  DEP has also strengthened in- house and

         12  consultant management of the capital program to

         13  improve accountability for achieving cost and

         14  schedule goals.

         15                 The majority of the City's FY 2008

         16  spending and capital planning for the future will be

         17  devoted to the four priorities noted earlier.

         18                 Major capital investments in both the

         19  dependability of the City's water delivery systems

         20  and source water protection measures is warranted if

         21  New York City is to have a water supply it can

         22  depend on for the next 100 years.  Dependability

         23  projects, such as DEP's repair of the Delaware

         24  Aqueduct, will allow the City to increase the

         25  flexibility of it's overall systems and ensure that
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          2  water delivery infrastructure can be properly

          3  upgraded without affecting service.  Dependability

          4  projects alone account for $1.3 billion in the

          5  Capital Plan.  Protection measures related to the

          6  City's watersheds will enhance the health and safety

          7  of New York's drinking water and improve the

          8  sustainability of existing upstate infrastructure.

          9                 Since the first Filtration Avoidance

         10  Determination, or FAD, was granted ten years ago,

         11  DEP has invested more than $235 million dollars to

         12  acquire, or protect through easement, nearly 77,000

         13  acres in the watershed in order to maintain water

         14  quality. In addition to funds expended for land

         15  acquisition, DEP has made significant capital

         16  investments in a variety of other watershed

         17  protection measures.  To guarantee the continued

         18  protection of New York's water, DEP has already

         19  budgeted more than $42 million dollars for the next

         20  five years, through 2012, for land acquisition

         21  programs in the upstate watersheds.  An additional

         22  $23 million remains available for land acquisition

         23  although that additional amount does not yet appear

         24  in the Capital Budget.  And we anticipate providing

         25  additional funding under the next FAD.  DEP has also

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  allocated approximately $370 million dollars for

          3  overall watershed protection, of which $115 million

          4  covers existing FAD and MOA, Memorandum of

          5  Agreement, commitments and $255 million dollars is

          6  devoted to anticipated watersheds needs.  DEP is

          7  currently working with the Federal EPA to review all

          8  of the watershed protection programs contained in

          9  the proposed FAD for 2007 to 2012 period programs

         10  that we know are also of keen interest to the

         11  Council.

         12                 Increased protection for the City's

         13  upstate supply will help guard against inappropriate

         14  development, ensure the sustainability of the City's

         15  excellent water quality, and fulfill the conditions

         16  of the FAD.  The construction of filtration

         17  facilities for the Catskill and Delaware system

         18  reservoirs would entail extraordinary capital and

         19  operating costs for the City, so maintaining the FAD

         20  through comprehensive stewardship efforts is of

         21  critical importance.

         22                 Other work upstate includes $791

         23  million for comprehensive dam safety and repair

         24  programs, most notably at the Gilboa Dam, where $152

         25  million has been allocated for the construction of a
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          2  low- level release facility and a flood gate at the

          3  dam's crest, which will enhance the safety and

          4  reliability of the Dam.

          5                 Significant portions of the overall

          6  fund will also be devoted to shafts and tunnels,

          7  roads and bridges and work on other dams, all of

          8  which is integral to the continued safety and

          9  functionality of our upstate water systems.

         10                 To improve drinking water quality,

         11  DEP is implementing two major infrastructure

         12  projects in addition to a host of other, more

         13  localized water quality measures.  The Ultra Violet

         14  Disinfection Facility for the Catskill and Delaware

         15  systems, currently under construction, will protect

         16  against waterborne pathogens and improve the overall

         17  integrity of the City's water supply.

         18                 Similarly, the Croton Filtration

         19  Plant under construction in Van Cortlandt Park in

         20  the Bronx will guarantee the continued viability of

         21  the Croton System, which supplies ten percent of the

         22  City's water needs when operational, but can supply

         23  up to 30 percent in times of drought, if we're able

         24  to use Croton to it's full capacity.

         25                 In addition to Croton construction
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          2  costs, DEP's budget also includes $138 million

          3  dollars, the remainder of our commitment of

          4  approximately $240 million in City funds for park

          5  revitalization in the Bronx.

          6                 The Croton Filtration Plant, in

          7  addition to improving water quality, will be a key

          8  component of the City's dependability strategy,

          9  allowing the City to fully take advantage of the

         10  Croton system's capacity to supply water.  These

         11  infrastructure additions will dramatically increase

         12  the flexibility of the City's water delivery system

         13  and allow it to keep pace with growing population

         14  and changing demands.

         15                 To protect upstate source waters from

         16  human threats, DEP continues to train Environmental

         17  Police Officers.  There are currently 16 police

         18  officer vacancies in a force of 188 officers. As of

         19  March 26th, a training course will begin for 24 new

         20  officers, a number that will compensate for

         21  attrition and ensure that the force is fully

         22  staffed.

         23                 The Capital Strategy also includes

         24  significant funding for tunnels, most notably City

         25  Tunnel No. 3.  Once fully operational, Tunnel No. 3
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          2  will enable necessary upgrades and repairs to occur

          3  on the other City Tunnels.  The revised Ten- Year

          4  Strategy commits $100 million for inspection and

          5  design work associated with City Water Tunnel No. 1.

          6    Stage One of Tunnel 3, which serves portions of

          7  the Bronx and Manhattan, is already in use, with

          8  both portions of Stage Two nearing completion.

          9                 In addition to ongoing construction

         10  costs, the revised Ten- Year Plan includes a new

         11  allocation of nearly $578 million dollars for the

         12  City- wide integration of Tunnel No. 3 into the

         13  existing distribution system.  In order to maintain,

         14  improve and expand the City's water distribution

         15  system, the Ten- Year Plan provides $2 billion

         16  dollars for new water mains throughout the City.

         17                 One of the Department's long- term

         18  goals is to expand upstate the kind of water

         19  transport dependability that the construction of

         20  Water Tunnel No. 3 is providing within the City. A

         21  major step toward repairing the Delaware Aqueduct is

         22  the award in FY 2007 of a $239 million dollar

         23  contract to rehabilitate and de water Shaft 6.  This

         24  contract will provide access to the affected portion

         25  of the Delaware Aqueduct and allow DEP to more
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          2  thoroughly assess the extent of the repairs

          3  required.

          4                 As mentioned earlier, the

          5  construction of the Croton Filtration Plant will

          6  also be a key component in maintaining continuous

          7  water supply when the Delaware Aqueduct is repaired

          8  in the future, as the Filtration Plant's completion

          9  will allow DEP to use the Croton system at it's

         10  maximum capacity.

         11                 To properly manage the wastewater

         12  produced in New York City, DEP's FY 2008 budget and

         13  the Ten- Year Capital Strategy include substantial

         14  allocations for wastewater treatment operations.  As

         15  addressed in Commissioner Lloyd's February 14th

         16  testimony regarding the Mayor's PlaNYC goal, the

         17  mitigation of Combined Sewer Overflows, CSO's,

         18  continues to be critical in reducing water pollution

         19  and achieving desired levels of aquatic health.

         20                 At the same hearing, DEP outlined its

         21  comprehensive strategy for CSO mitigation,

         22  emphasizing its use of Best Management Practices to

         23  complement the enormous improvements already

         24  achieved by infrastructure investments over recent

         25  decades.  The Preliminary Ten- Year Strategy
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          2  provides $1.3 billion dollars for this diverse

          3  approach and its multifaceted toolset of Best

          4  Management Practice pilots and strategies.

          5                 The Ten- Year Strategy also provides

          6  for continued upgrades of key wastewater treatment

          7  facilities, such as the Newtown Creek Water

          8  Pollution Control Plant.  Nearly $1,9 billion has

          9  been allocated for work at Newtown Creek, ensuring

         10  that the plant is brought into compliance with

         11  secondary treatment by 2014. A portion of these

         12  funds will also be devoted to the construction of an

         13  aeration facility and 9 million gallon storage tank

         14  to mitigate CSO's and improve water quality in

         15  English Kills, a tributary of Newtown Creek.

         16                 Significant upgrades and improvements

         17  will also be made to the Owls Head, Tallman Island,

         18  Wards Island and Hunts Point Water Pollution Control

         19  Plants.  Improvements at Tallman Island will lead to

         20  water quality improvements in Flushing Bay.  These

         21  new improvements and upgrades will dovetail with the

         22  ongoing construction of detention tanks at Paerdegat

         23  Basin and Flushing Meadows to help the City achieve

         24  significant CSO reductions.

         25                 DEP has also allocated nearly $2.5
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          2  billion dollars for sewer upgrades and emergency

          3  repairs City- wide, of which approximately $427

          4  million is devoted to sewer build- outs to reduce

          5  flooding in Southeast Queens.  These funds will

          6  ensure that existing infrastructure operates

          7  effectively and efficiently into the future.

          8                 In support of DEP's commitment to

          9  BMP's, more than $138 million dollars has been

         10  reserved for land acquisition under the Staten

         11  Island Bluebelt program.  A further $650,000 has

         12  been committed to the construction of a green roof

         13  at Pace University. This project will reduce local

         14  storm water runoff and model technologies that could

         15  eventually be implemented City- wide.

         16                 One of the DEP's key strategies for

         17  improving water quality is increasing the CSO

         18  capture rate.  Implementation of budget items

         19  related to this goal will reduce pollutant levels in

         20  New York Harbor and its important tributaries, help

         21  rehabilitate aquatic habitats and improve the

         22  ability of existing infrastructure to properly deal

         23  with wastewater.  Increasing CSO capture is

         24  essential to the long- term health of New York's

         25  water bodies and will allow New York's residents and
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          2  visitors to actively enjoy more of the City's

          3  impressive natural features.

          4                 As the City agency responsible for

          5  collection of water and sewer bills, much of DEP's

          6  work involves serving the City's 828,000 water

          7  account customers.  After and initial evaluation of

          8  the existing operations and in response to direction

          9  from the Mayor, as well as complaints and feedback

         10  from both our customers and elected officials

         11  including the Council, DEP has made it's customer

         12  service program a top priority.

         13                 We have already significantly reduced

         14  waiting times in our Customer Call Center by

         15  extending the Call Center's hours on weekdays and by

         16  expanding it's operation from five to six days per

         17  week with the establishment of Saturday service.

         18  These changes in the Call Center operation have

         19  reduced average waiting time for our customers from

         20  seven and one- half minutes last year to

         21  approximately 22 seconds currently, and the

         22  percentage of calls answered has risen from 87.7

         23  percent last year to 99.4 percent more recently.

         24                 DEP has also begun tackling bill-

         25  payment delinquencies through a comprehensive public
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          2  outreach program, which includes bringing laptops

          3  and billing specialists to communities around the

          4  City, several of these in conjunction with Council

          5  Members recently.

          6                 The Preliminary Budget continues

          7  support for these operational programs, but also

          8  allocates $325 million for the installation of

          9  automated meter reading technology and continued

         10  replacement of old meters.  These programs will

         11  provide greater billing accuracy, reduce customer

         12  confusion, and reduce the number and age of billing

         13  disputes.  DEP is confident that these strategic

         14  expenditures, combined with our extensive public

         15  outreach campaigns and institutional

         16  reorganizations, can positively improve customer

         17  service and billing collection procedures.

         18                 In addition to providing a continuous

         19  history of accurate meter readings for billing and

         20  collection purposes, automated meter reading will

         21  provide discrete, detailed water consumption data,

         22  which will be an invaluable resource in planning

         23  future conservation programs and ensuring a

         24  dependable water supply.

         25                 As Commissioner Lloyd has discussed
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          2  in briefings with Council Members, DEP has also

          3  engaged the consultant firm Booz Allen to advise us

          4  on how New York City may benefit from water billing

          5  programs and practices used by other cities.

          6                 To achieve compliance with relevant

          7  environmental health and safety regulations DEP is

          8  in the process of implementing an agency- wide

          9  program that will improve DEP facilities, and

         10  enhance protections for our workers and for the

         11  public.  An integrated environmental health and

         12  safety program of the type DEP is putting in place

         13  will also increase the longevity and sustainability

         14  of existing facilities and ensure that they are run

         15  efficiently and managed properly.  This increased

         16  focus on the efficiency and safety of DEP operations

         17  will serve as an added safeguard and protective

         18  measure for the City's water supplies and water

         19  supply operations.  This effort is being implemented

         20  under the supervision of a court-appointed monitor.

         21                 In support of this program, DEP

         22  currently has 249 positions dedicated to

         23  environmental health and safety and has expended

         24  over $49 million dollars in expense funds and $112

         25  million dollars in capital funds to remediate
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          2  critical existing conditions and properly protect

          3  and train Department employees.  In the FY 2008

          4  budget, $34 million dollars in capital funds and $29

          5  million dollars in operating funds have been

          6  reserved towards the implementation of such

          7  programs.

          8                 Finally, I would like to mention the

          9  water rates. As you know, the traditional annual

         10  schedule provides for proposing water rates for FY

         11  2008 to the New York City Water Board at its next

         12  meeting in April, with public hearings to be

         13  scheduled in May. The expanded Capital Plan, the new

         14  needs requested for the FY '08 operating budget, and

         15  a continuation of the trend of decreased demand for

         16  water are all exerting pressure on water rates.  We

         17  will be working with the City's OMB over the next

         18  weeks to evaluate DEP's capital and operating needs

         19  in order to strike a proper balance between the

         20  resources needed for water and watershed systems, on

         21  the one hand, and maintaining rates at reasonable

         22  rates on the other hand.

         23                 The priorities defined in the FY 2008

         24  Preliminary Budget and Preliminary Ten- Year Capital

         25  Strategy will ensure the continued ability of DEP to
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          2  provide the public with safe, clean drinking water

          3  and a healthy natural environment.  These plans

          4  establish an infrastructure base that can sustain

          5  and build upon the successes of existing projects.

          6  New York has a vast and impressive water system, and

          7  by working collectively with the City Council and

          8  other key partners we can ensure that New York City

          9  remains the healthy, prosperous City described on

         10  that day in June 100 years ago when the Catskill

         11  system was initiated.

         12                 Thank you again, Speaker Quinn and

         13  Chairmen Gennaro, and Members of the Committee on

         14  Environmental Protection and Finance for the

         15  opportunity to testify before you today.  I welcome

         16  any further questions you might have.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         18  Steve.  Thank you for your comprehensive statement.

         19  I just wanted to state that we were joined briefly

         20  by Council Member Tom White who has several

         21  commitments.  He'll be in and out.  We're also

         22  joined by Council Member Mark-Viverito and Council

         23  Member Koppell, and we'll start questioning and it's

         24  my pleasure to call upon  --

         25                 SPEAKER QUINN: We want the questions
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          2  to be as on point as possible so that's why Jim

          3  should start because then I can augment, but really

          4  he's the  --  I just want to say one thing before

          5  Jim starts, who is an environmental leader.  Thank

          6  you very much for the testimony.  Since we're all

          7  new to this process of us adding the capital budget

          8  separately, I think for the future what would be

          9  more useful is when we are having capital hearings,

         10  and then expenses hearings to follow, or vice-

         11  versa, that agencies and OMB do the testimony in two

         12  separate iterations.  So a capital testimony then an

         13  expense testimony because then it will be easier for

         14  people to separate out their questions and stuff.

         15  So if we could make that request for the final

         16  budget that would be helpful.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS:

         18  Certainly.

         19                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you and I defer

         20  to our green leader, Jim Gennaro.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         22  Thank you, Madam Speaker.  I certainly appreciate

         23  that.  No surprise by the first question is going to

         24  go to land acquisition.  I'm going to try to read

         25  this question right.  DEP's January Plan includes
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          2  $51.7 million for purchase of land in the watershed

          3  over the next ten fiscal years.  I know you kind of

          4  qualified that a little bit in your statement,

          5  Steve, but that's what the plan has.  A recent New

          6  York Times editorial came out in support of

          7  ambitious land acquisition, target and related

          8  funding including the call of the watershed

          9  Inspector General and Assistant New York State

         10  Attorney General, James Tierney, for setting a ten-

         11  year target for 150,000 acres in the watershed.  In

         12  order to continue to avoid the costly endeavor of

         13  building a new filtration plant, which as you said

         14  would have a cost of more than $6 billion dollars,

         15  $6 to $10 billion, and operation, maintenance,

         16  taxation and other costs that would be associated

         17  with that would total $1 billion per year, DEP needs

         18  to formulate a cohesive land act plan for watershed

         19  property. It would seem that the relatively small

         20  expenditure would be common sensical.  Common

         21  sensical  --  I think every hearing I give an award

         22  for a word that's never been used on the record

         23  before, and I've never given myself the award, and

         24  now I'm giving myself the award for the use of

         25  common sensical, the first time that word has been
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          2  on the record in my five years as Chairman.  But I

          3  digress.

          4  That's the first part of the question.  As I

          5  mentioned in my opening statement, DEP stated on

          6  numerous occasions that they plan to maintain the

          7  current rate of land acquisition over the next five

          8  years and so I ask again.  Is the DEP still

          9  committed to that rate of acquisition which would be

         10  what you've done over the last ten years, 7 or 8

         11  thousand acres per year?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.  As

         13  we had testified at the previous watershed

         14  protection hearing, that is our intent.  The coming

         15  five- year plan is to maintain approximately the

         16  same pace of land acquisition as we had previously.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.  What

         18  has been DEP's average capital outlay on land aq in

         19  the watershed over the last five years?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Over the

         21  last five years  --  Well over the last ten years is

         22    --  I had stated earlier, we had spent

         23  approximately $235 million dollars on land

         24  acquisition either through outright purchase or

         25  through securing of easements, and we were able to
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          2  secure through purchase or easements approximately

          3  77,000 additional acres.  Over the last five years

          4  specifically, Mr. Chairman, we had been averaging

          5  approximately, in terms of capital outlays,

          6  approximately $25 million per year.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank

          8  you.  Speaker Quinn has a question.

          9                 SPEAKER QUINN: Relevant to what

         10  you're talking about now.  On page three of the

         11  testimony, it talks about since the FAD was granted

         12  ten years ago, DEP has invested $235 million to

         13  acquire or protect those easements, nearly 77,000

         14  acres in the watershed in order to maintain quality

         15  water.  Then you jump down further and it says DEP

         16  has already budgeted more than $42 million for the

         17  next five years through 2012 for land acquisition

         18  programs in the upstate watershed, but if you do the

         19  math  --  I mean is the land cost getting cheaper?

         20  Because it seems like $42  --  You would need more

         21   --  and don't make me do it, but if you divide

         22  77,000 by $235, it's more than $42 million in five-

         23  year increments.  So how does that work assuming

         24  that we weren't buying absurdly overpriced land or

         25  something?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If I could,

          3  before you reply, to further qualify the Speaker's

          4  question.  If we've been doing $25 million a year

          5  and now we're only doing $8.4 million a year, how do

          6  we stay the course in the face of ever rising land

          7  prices due to increased pressure for development?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right.

          9  Yes, Madam Speaker and Mr. Chair, as I testified

         10  earlier, in addition to the $42 million that's

         11  currently reflected in the budget, we had testified

         12  on previous occasions that our total commitment that

         13  the agency's --  the City's commitment for funds

         14  specifically allocated to land acquisition would be

         15  approximately $65 million dollars over the next five

         16  years, $42 million of which is currently reflected

         17  in the January Plan and another $23 million would we

         18  hope to allocate to land acquisition from funds that

         19  are currently budgeted for portions of the

         20  Filtration Avoidance Determination.

         21                 SPEAKER QUINN: But two things.  One,

         22  it still doesn't add up.  I mean it still

         23  significantly cheaper when land seems for better or

         24  worse prices seem to be going in the other direction

         25  and then two, if you're committed to spending $65
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          2  then why not commit $65.  Why leave the other $23 in

          3  you know the more precarious place in the Capital

          4  Budget.  Not just in DEP, but anytime money is left

          5   --  I mean money can always be taken out, but

          6  anytime money is in the less firm part of the

          7  Capital Budget so to speak, and this is just my

          8  opinion, it puts more in jeopardy. So, one, it's

          9  still not enough if you assume land costs are going

         10  track at the same or higher, and then two, why not

         11  put it in the in- part so to speak.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Well in

         13  terms of specifically allocating the remaining $23

         14  million dollars for land acquisition we have an

         15  opportunity to do that for the Executive Budget by

         16  re- allocating funds.

         17                 SPEAKER QUINN: Do you anticipate you

         18  will?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         20  Yes, we do, and in terms of the price per acre, and

         21  whether that $65 million dollars will be sufficient

         22  to maintain the pace of acquisition of acreage that

         23  we had achieved in the past, we are going to

         24  actively solicit land for purchase as we had before.

         25    In many cases it involves returning to owners who
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          2  we had solicited previously who had not offered to

          3  sell their land to us.  If we are successful at

          4  soliciting large numbers of acres, if we finding

          5  that the funding is not sufficient to purchase all

          6  those acres, because this will be taking place over

          7  the next five years, we would come back and look to

          8  re- allocate monies to secure those larger numbers

          9  of acres.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: If I could  --

         11  Even if we're now working with a $65 million dollar

         12  number versus the $42 million dollar number it's

         13  still below DEP's own stated, on the record,

         14  testimony from the Commissioner about the imperative

         15  to continue the course of doing what we've been

         16  doing for the last ten years, and of course as I

         17  stated in my question, the watershed inspector

         18  general and others believe that even staying the

         19  course is not sufficient to do what we need to do in

         20  the face of development pressure that are being

         21  brought on by the casinos and second homes and

         22  everything that's going on up there.  We have this

         23  window that we're operating under.  Over the next

         24  ten years  --  Ten year from now, land prices are

         25  going to be so out of sight that's it's over. It's
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          2  over.  So we have ten years left to navigate so to

          3  speak, and if we don't get it done then all these

          4  other things that we're talking about in the budget

          5  about doing this and doing that, $300 million for

          6  that, and $500 million for that, and $1.9 million

          7  for a new town  --  there's not going to be any

          8  money left to do any of that because we're going to

          9  build a $6 to $10 billion dollar filtration plant

         10  and it's going to cost a billion dollars a year to

         11  run and that's going to jack water rates 1,500

         12  percent or whatever and then show's over at that

         13  point and we can't do all these good things.  To

         14  have the amount of money in the budget for land

         15  acquisition to be essentially little more than a

         16  rounding error in a $20 to $23 billion dollar, 10-

         17  or 11- year budget, doesn't speak to the imperative

         18  that we know we all face to preserve the land

         19  necessary to not burden our children and

         20  grandchildren with paying off all that debt.  So I

         21  state to you that what's in the budget is

         22  inconsistent with the Commissioner's own testimony

         23  on the you need to stay the course and certainly far

         24  beyond where this Council and others who look at

         25  this process know we need to go.  So I ask you
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          2  comment on that.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes, I

          4  think in our previous testimony at the last hearing

          5  on watershed protection we did speak to a similar

          6  level of planned expenditure over the next five

          7  years, and that this is consistent with discussions

          8  that we've been having with the Environmental

          9  Protection Agency in the course of our negotiations

         10  over the forthcoming Filtration Avoidance

         11  Determination, and I will repeat that if we are so

         12  successful at finding owners of land willing to sell

         13  to us that it looks like we will be exhausting the

         14  $65 million dollars that we will be back to make

         15  adjustments to the budget to re- allocate money if

         16  that land that is being offered to sell to us is

         17  priority land that most effectively meets over water

         18  protection needs.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         20                 SPEAKER QUINN: I just want to jump in

         21  for one second because I think this conversation

         22  illustrates why it's important that we're having

         23  these capital budget oversight hearings.  I mean I

         24  understand that it's hard to know exactly how much

         25  land acquisition is going to cost though certainly
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          2  one could say that the past history is a good

          3  indicator.  Now in as much as  --  Chairperson

          4  Gennaro is absolutely right.  I mean there's

          5  question about whether what we had being doing was a

          6  high enough rate.  That issue has been raised by a

          7  lot of folks, and the urgency of this is clear.  If

          8  we don't do the appropriate level of land

          9  acquisition, the result is clear and the long- term

         10  impact that's going to have on our budget, capital

         11  and expense, is abundantly clear in the negative in

         12  addition to the impact on the water supply.  So I

         13  would argue just as a kind of point for us to stop

         14  for a second.  This is an example I think where we

         15  might be better served by  --  It seems like what

         16  we're doing here is saying we hope it works out for

         17  the $67 million, or whatever the number was, but to

         18  DEP's credit, they're saying if it doesn't, we're

         19  going to come back.  Now we could argue that the

         20  $65, or whatever the number is, is too low based on

         21  past history.  So I would argue that it might be

         22  wiser to do, from a steward of taxpayer's dollars

         23  perspective, would be to say that we think it's

         24  going to be on the higher- end.  It's better to come

         25  back a year from now and DEP say we have extra money
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          2  than DEP come back at a point in a modification, or

          3  in next year's budget, and say we need more and then

          4  we have to either look to reconfigure things within

          5  the Agency in a context where you have a less full

          6  discussion because you're in a modification moment.

          7  You're not in a full budget moment, or in a worse

          8  scenario, which isn't likely, but you have to

          9  prepare for these things, that we might have to move

         10  money from a different agency's capital budget into

         11  DEP.  So I think with this issue of land

         12  acquisition, which is so important, we might be

         13  wanting to over go over and then come back to take

         14  it down, which would be a happy day because then we

         15  could put money somewhere else, versus the other.

         16  So that, I think, is a conversation you don't have

         17  to answer and we don't have to come to a conclusion

         18  on now.  One, it's a comment for me to say that's

         19  why it's so great we're having these hearings and

         20  aren't we smart, and then two, for a longer- term

         21  conversation that we need to have between this

         22  Committee, the Finance Committee and the Agency as

         23  we move forward in the months ahead in the budget

         24  process.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right
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          2  and certainly not to disagree with anything you

          3  said, just to add to this if I didn't mention

          4  earlier that the land acquisition is, of course, a

          5  major component of the watershed protection.  It is

          6  one component.  In addition, we have funds for such

          7  items as wastewater treatment plant upgrades and

          8  farm management and other components of the last FAD

          9  and the FAD before that, and all of these efforts

         10  together will provide substantial protection to the

         11  water quality.

         12                 And I appreciate your comments.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  I

         14  recognize what you're saying, but I guess two

         15  things.  To say that $42 or $65 million dollars is

         16  going to allow us to stay the course, as the

         17  Commissioner said, over the next five years, there's

         18  just no way that that can be true and I think

         19  everybody knows that because if it has taken $25

         20  million dollars a year to get that done over the

         21  last five years to stay on that sort of flight path

         22  so to speak.  $65 million dollars doesn't get you

         23  there over five years.  The whole notion of a plan

         24  is to  --  Either this is a plan and there is a

         25  mindset within DEP that believes on some level that
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          2  $65 million dollars is going to get this done, and I

          3  don't see that, or this is not a plan and you're

          4  just putting some money out there and you're just

          5  kind of winging it and it's like we'll see how it

          6  goes and then we'll go the Mark Page next year and

          7  see if he helps us out.  So either of those are not

          8  optimal and when we're talking about what is

          9  critically necessary to stave off filtration which

         10  would   --  not to minimize all of the other sewage

         11  treatment plants up there and agriculture and the

         12  forestry, but all that stuff is always going to be

         13  there and we can always deal with that, but what's

         14  disappearing and what is escalating is the open

         15  land. So this is the vanishing resource, and this is

         16  what the Commissioner in her testimony recognized

         17  last time.  So I guess which is it?  Is this a plan

         18  that there's a belief that $65 million dollars can

         19  actually get us there, or this is not really a plan

         20  and $42 or $65 million or just numbers that we're

         21  putting in and we're going to see how it goes?

         22  Which is it?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It is a

         24  plan and the plan does recognize that land

         25  acquisition is one piece not only of watershed
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          2  protection, but watershed protection is one piece of

          3  the entire DEP Capital Plan for both water supply

          4  and City distribution and collection and wastewater

          5  treatment and the other services that we perform.

          6  So this is our plan at this stage recognizing that

          7  there is not unlimited funding and that we feel,

          8  even given the limitations that you articulated,

          9  that $65 million is still a substantial amount of

         10  money to be committing to a single activity.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: With all due

         12  respect, I have to disagree in that in a $19 or $20

         13  billion dollar budget, whether you're talking about

         14  ten or eleven years, $65 million dollars doesn't

         15  even register.  I will also point out that

         16  Commissioner Lloyd indicated that land acquisition

         17  was the preeminent methodology that she believed was

         18  necessary to get us to permanent filtration

         19  avoidance.  Not to minimize the other things with

         20  the agriculture and the forestry and the sewage

         21  treatment plant, but there was a recognition on her

         22  part that this is the preeminent. However, what has

         23  been put in the budget does not do her words

         24  justice.  So we have a problem with this plan in

         25  that regard because I for one don't believe that $65
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          2  million dollars is going to get us to where we need

          3  to be or anywhere close.  I think we're going to

          4  have to agree to disagree on that, but I would

          5  welcome any comments you have on that.

          6                 I just want to recognize before you

          7  answer that we're joined by Council Member Dominic

          8  Recchia from Brooklyn. Happy to have you here,

          9  Dominic.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I don't

         11  think I have anything to add, Mr. Chair, beyond my

         12  previous comments.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14                 SPEAKER QUINN: If I could just ask

         15  one more question and then I apologize.  I'm going

         16  to have to leave.  Just to move off of land

         17  acquisition for a second.  Last year  --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Thank

         19  you.

         20                 SPEAKER QUINN: You're welcome.  Last

         21  year in the budget, we had a tern and condition

         22  entered into the budget that I think is a very

         23  important one, and it was a term and condition that

         24  required that each agency would make --  I want to

         25  make sure that I word it correctly.  Each agency
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          2  would make certain that the FMS was "adequately

          3  updated with project milestones and explanations for

          4  any delays in the schedule of each capital project".

          5  It's obviously been eight months since we passed FY

          6   '07 and OMB recently gave us a report from all the

          7  different agencies on how we were doing with

          8  compliance with this term and condition.  Most of

          9  the City agencies were doing extraordinarily well.

         10  DEP not so much. So could you explain to us why DEP

         11  is having challenges being in compliance with this

         12  term and condition in the City's budget?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes,

         14  thank you, Madam Speaker.  My understanding is that

         15  currently the FMS system, and this is my low- tech

         16  explanation, but that it currently has in it a

         17  constraint in terms of project milestones that it

         18  wasn't designed to accommodate projects that have

         19  longer than a three- year construction duration.

         20  DEP, unlike most other City agencies, the bulk of

         21  our capital projects are long- term.  They're very

         22  large and they're long duration and typically longer

         23  than three years.

         24                 Having said that, we are working with

         25  OMB to upgrade that particular module so that we can
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          2  accommodate projects of our type and we will be

          3  furnishing this information.  I believe we will be

          4  furnishing it within the next month and I do

          5  apologize for the delay.

          6                 SPEAKER QUINN: Okay.  Thank you, and

          7  we'll look forward to seeing that information.  We

          8  had not, when we negotiated this term and condition

          9  with OMB, been told that the FMS had this challenge

         10  for capital projects that were more than three years

         11  in their timeline.  It seems like that could become

         12  an issue, obviously, with other City agencies

         13  because although they're not always more than three

         14  years because of their magnitude, as is the case

         15  with DEP they sometimes are more than three years

         16  for other slightly more problematic reasons.  So we

         17  hadn't heard this from OMB.

         18                 So I'm going to say three things.

         19  One, thank you for getting us that information in

         20  the next month.  Two, it would be useful if the

         21  folks from DEP could have, looking backwards, that

         22  once you realized that once we passed the budget

         23  immediately have notified the Council that you would

         24  not be able to comply with the term and condition

         25  because of the challenges with FMS and it would have
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          2  good if either DEP or OMB had told us that

          3  immediately.  You know what's done is done, but in

          4  the future, if things like this happen, we'd prefer

          5  to be notified immediately.  Three, if the folks

          6  from DEP could sit down with the City Council's

          7  Capital Budget staff, John Rosenberg and Jeff Rotus

          8  and take us through where those challenges are

          9  within FMS so we can see them and better understand

         10  them so in the future we don't make demands on DEP

         11  that are technically unable for you to meet, and

         12  four, once we get that information, we should have

         13  ongoing conversations to make sure that whatever

         14  changes are needed in FMS are made in the long- term

         15  so we can get the information on an on- going basis.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         17                 SPEAKER QUINN: Great.  Okay.  Thank

         18  you very much and thank you very much, Mr. Chair and

         19  Committee Members.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Thank

         21  you, Madam Speaker.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Madam

         23  Speaker.  It's been a pleasure to have you.  Thank

         24  you so much for being here.

         25                 I recognize Council Member Peter
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          2  Vallone for questions.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: It's about

          4  time the Speaker is done.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  My

          5  focus will be, as it always has been, on the safety

          6  of our watershed from, as you mentioned in your

          7  testimony, human threats.  Now, at our last hearing,

          8  I am going to quote from my question.  I said that,

          9  in our hearing in 2004 that Chair Gennaro and I

         10  held, we did not believe that 200  --  and that's

         11  what you had apparently at one point  --  200

         12  offices were enough to patrol a 2,000- mile

         13  watershed.  Chief Welsh (phonetic), of course, said

         14  he had great people.  He thought he had enough

         15  people.  That what he has to do  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Peter, talk to

         17  you  --  I just want to state on the record that not

         18  withstanding this is technically the capital budget

         19  part of the hearing.  I am going to give Council

         20  Member Vallone the latitude to ask questions that

         21  relate to the programmatic part of the budget, and

         22  so I just wanted to say that we're diverting

         23  somewhat from the format, but out of respect for the

         24  Council Member's time, I'm happy to do that.  So

         25  please continue.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.  I do need to get to the corrections

          4  plus, as the Speaker stated, they testified about

          5  this already.  So that's the only reason I was

          6  asking questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Of course.

          8  That's fine.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: They state on

         10  page four that there are 16 police officer vacancies

         11  in a force of 188.  To go on, I stated that we are

         12  very troubled by the fact that we were led to

         13  believe, Chair Gennaro and I, that we were all on

         14  the same page and that we needed more officers and

         15  that two years later, we have 35 percent less

         16  officers than we had back in 2004.  We had about 150

         17  back then, well below the 188.

         18                 Now Commissioner Lloyd explained that

         19  that 188 figure came about because of union

         20  bargaining.  I asked her to explain and she deferred

         21  to Assistant Commissioner Singleton, who is here,

         22  who stated that is was part of a contractual

         23  agreement, and I said that I'm very concerned that

         24  that number was agreed to by an agency and cannot be

         25  expanded.  Is that correct?  And you said the 188
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          2  number was a result of taking the 201 number down

          3  through collective bargaining to 188.  I then asked

          4  for a copy of that agreement because the union

          5  stated that there was no such agreement, that they

          6  believe 300 people was the minimum that was

          7  necessary and you stated the OLR, Office of Labor

          8  Relations, was the people I should speak to about

          9  that because they are the ones who made the

         10  agreement.  Well I did write to the Office of Labor

         11  Relations.  They sent a letter to me that they

         12  advised that they do not possess any agreements

         13  limiting the number of DEP police officers to a

         14  particular staffing level.  That was in May of 2006.

         15  I then wrote to you in June stating they don't have

         16  one.  The union says one doesn't exist.  Please tell

         17  me what you're relying on to limit your officers to

         18  188.  That was in June.  No answer.  In August, I

         19  wrote again saying please reply as soon as possible,

         20  very important matter.  No answer.

         21                 First of all, I don't believe 188 is

         22  enough.  You're relying on some sort of agreement to

         23  keep it at 188.  If there is no agreement, let's

         24  bump it up.  But first, let me hear you on whether

         25  or not this agreement exists and where it would
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          2  exist since I haven't been able to find it.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I'm

          4  going to ask now Deputy Commissioner Singleton to

          5  address that because that statement was made before

          6  my time here.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: Thank

          8  you, Councilman.  Let me just go back a little bit

          9  in time as to what that original number was which

         10  was about 200, and that was not a contractual

         11  number.  That was the allocation that was then in

         12  our budget.  So if I said a contractual limit on

         13  that number, I apologize.  That's not what I meant.

         14  That was our authorized number.  When the police

         15  officers were still covered by the civilian unions

         16  as part of a collective bargaining negotiation that

         17  went back to I believe prior to 2004.  Certain pay

         18  raises across those civilian titles were offset with

         19  an attrition tag that OMB gave to all the civilian

         20  titles in the agencies.  That collective bargaining

         21  allocation  --  The Department at the time made the

         22  decision to spread that across all titles that were

         23  covered.  So the police authorized head count was

         24  brought down to that 188. It's not a ceiling that's

         25  contractually negotiated.  It is an operating number
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          2  within our budget.  So you are absolutely correct

          3  that there is no contractual limit on 188 or 288 or

          4  300.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I thank you

          6  for that.  I wish I would have gotten that six

          7  months ago.  It was a pretty simple answer.  So now

          8  we're on the same page.  There is no limit to the

          9  amount of officers.  Now you testified that you're

         10  16 short right now of 188.  You've been short of

         11  that number for a long, long time.  You indicate

         12  that there is a new course starting in March, 24 new

         13  officers.  When you start a new class of 24, how

         14  many of those typically graduate and become members

         15  of the force?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: In the

         17  last class, which graduated in December, there were

         18  21 graduates.  I don't know if they started with a

         19  higher number.  Chief Welsh says that typically we

         20  lose about ten percent of the academy members from

         21  the time that the classes begin until they end six

         22  months later.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And let me

         24  say that Chair Gennaro and I were up there and

         25  observed the academy.  We were up with Chief Welsh.
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          2  We know how well trained your people are and what a

          3  great job they do and that's the problem.  That's

          4  why there is such a high attrition rate there

          5  because you train them so well, pay them so poorly,

          6  which is the same thing we do here at the NYPD and

          7  they you get them cherry- picked by agencies

          8  throughout the entire state which is why it's so

          9  hard to keep them and why this class will barely be

         10  sufficient.  When do they graduate?  June 2nd? Is

         11  that the same date as last year?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: The

         13  academy lasts six months typically.  So it will be

         14   --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So it will be

         16  six months before we get anywhere near the 188.

         17  We'll be losing officers up until that time.

         18                 Now that we know that there is no

         19  contractual limit on this, it's a budgetary limit,

         20  have you any plans now to increase your budget and

         21  add more officers above that 188?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: The

         23  current budget proposal we have reflects maintaining

         24  the police officers head count at 188.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Let me
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          2  continue, and I believe my Chair speaks with me on

          3  this, to scream for more officers.  One hundred and

          4  eighty- eight officers is not enough to protect

          5  2,000 miles of watershed.

          6                 By example, recently California found

          7  pipe bombs when they dredged their aqueducts.  There

          8  were published reports that you them dredged our

          9  aqueducts here which probably was for the first

         10  time.  I would like to know about that dredging

         11  process.  How was it done?  What was found?  How

         12  often will you be doing that in the future?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I don't

         14  know that I'm prepared to speak to that today,

         15  Council Member Vallone, but we could find a way to

         16  provide that information to you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.  In

         18  reference to the fact that that's not clearly a

         19  budget issue, I will not request that Chief Welsh

         20  testifies and I will follow that up with you though

         21  and hopefully I get answers a little quicker than I

         22  have in the past.

         23                 Since this is capital, last year we

         24  had problems with Hillview's security and you had no

         25  cameras up there.  Although they were supposed to be
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          2  there, you had empty poles.  I'm told, though I

          3  haven't been up there in a while, that there are

          4  still empty poles for the cameras and they haven't

          5  been put in.  Is that correct?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes, the

          7  cameras are up.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: They are up?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Oh,

         10  they're not.  I'm sorry.  I'm sorry because they are

         11  not up.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.  We had

         13  this discussion over a year ago about the necessity

         14  of these cameras at that location and yet they're

         15  not up.  Do you have  --  I don't expect an answer

         16  since you weren't even sure whether they were up,

         17  but why are they not up and when will they be up?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I'll get

         19  you the information on when that project is going to

         20  be completed.  As you know, we do have 24- hour

         21  police coverage at the Hillview Reservoir.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well is it

         23  police coverage or is it private security guard

         24  coverage, unarmed?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It's
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          2  police coverage.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You also have

          4  private security guards there.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: We also

          6  have private security, but we have police coverage

          7  at Hillview 24/7.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: In deference

          9  to the fact that I was able to ask questions that

         10  aren't completely appropriate at this point, I'm

         11  going to follow this all up with a letter. Perhaps

         12  I'll work with my Chair on that, and the Committee,

         13  to get information regarding all of this.  I do need

         14  to speak with Correction next door.  The

         15  Commissioner is almost done.  So thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair.  I look forward to working with you.  Thank

         17  you for your testimony.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Vallone.  Further in the hearing, if

         20  anyone has a comment to make, they have to come to

         21  the table and be sworn in and identify themselves

         22  for the record so that we can make sure that all

         23  testimony that gets stated during the hearing

         24  actually gets on the record.  It has to be spoken

         25  into the microphone.  So we'll make sure that we do
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          2  that going forward.

          3                 I recognize Council Member Koppell

          4  for questions, for capital questions only.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, capital

          6  question.  You made reference to the construction of

          7  the Croton Filtration Plant, and in line with the

          8  Chairman's concerns about the cost of filtration,

          9  what is the current estimate of cost of the

         10  construction of the plant and the Van Cortlandt

         11  Park?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes,

         13  Council Member Koppell, as you may know, the

         14  contracts were  --  the bids were opened in

         15  September and October of 2006, and the apparent low

         16  bids for the several contracts involved some to

         17  approximately $1.45 billion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Is that the

         19  total cost or just those particular contracts?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: That's

         21  the cost to construct the plan.  In addition, we, as

         22  you probably know, have, ongoing right now, a

         23  contract to prepare the site, and we also have

         24  another contract to provide tunnels to and from the

         25  plant.  We also have funds budgeted for the
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          2  electrical service to the plant and the combined

          3  costs of all of those including the $1.45 billion

          4  for the construction contract of the plant itself

          5  comes to approximately $1.9 billion.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Does that

          7  include the mitigation funds which was I think $240

          8  million?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         10  That includes over $200 million dollars for  --  If

         11  by the mitigation funds you're talking about the

         12  Park improvements?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That's in the

         16  $1.9?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You're sure?

         19  I'm looking at your colleague and he's sort of

         20  looking skeptical.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAWITTS: Okay, so it's

         23  $1.9, and what was the estimate when the decision

         24  was made to build in Van Cortlandt?  Do you

         25  remember?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Well I

          3  don't personally remember because I wasn't here, but

          4  there were several published estimates, and we held

          5  a recent public meeting on this.  The estimate that

          6  was published in the Environmental Impact Statement

          7  at the time was approximately $900 million which

          8  was, as you recall, an estimate in 2003 constant

          9  dollars for the purposes of the Environmental Impact

         10  Statement because it was evaluating alternatives did

         11  not inflate the costs on any of the alternatives. So

         12  it was stated in 2003 constant dollars as

         13  approximately $900 million.  The $900 million being

         14  comparable to the $1.45 billion.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Was the $900

         16  million a construction cost or the total cost?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: That was

         18  the construction cost.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I recall a

         20  number something like $1.2 for the total cost.  Am I

         21  wrong about that?  I don't have the number right in

         22  front of me.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: That

         24  does sound familiar.  That would have been similarly

         25  a constant dollar cost for the plant itself, the
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          2  tunnels and the electrical service connection for

          3  the wastewater coming out of the plant and so on.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Could you

          5  provide me, in writing, the numbers then, and the

          6  number now?  Could I ask for that?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: You

          8  certainly can.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Because you

         10  know I think everybody's somewhat concerned.  The

         11  Chairman is not here.  Oh, okay.  Well given the

         12  fact that he's not here, I'm not going to move to

         13  what might be  --  Well I don't know.  I think this

         14  probably fits within the capital because it has to

         15  do with the water rates which are largely

         16  established to meet capital costs. Not entirely, I

         17  know.  I've discussed before with representatives of

         18  the Department establishing a system whereby  --  I

         19  think with the Commissioner, in fact  --  establish

         20  a system whereby people who don't pay their water

         21  bills get their water shut off.  Has there been any

         22  further study of that option?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Well,

         24  yes.  There is study ongoing.  We had testified

         25  previously, and also in my earlier remarks, that we
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          2  have engaged Booz Allen Hamilton to look at our

          3  entire customer service and billing and collection

          4  operation.  We have also, even before the Booz Allen

          5  contract began, we were looking at other cities and

          6  their experience with service suspensions and most

          7  other cities avail themselves of service

          8  suspensions.  Most other cities have a very good

          9  success rate with the service suspensions

         10  influencing payment of arrears by customers.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm sorry.

         12  Could you repeat that sentence?  Most other cities

         13  have what?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         15  What we have seen from other cities is that when

         16  they institute service suspensions, or shut- offs,

         17  for people who are delinquent in paying their bills

         18  that the bills get paid, and rather promptly.  So,

         19  we have, I believe, spoken with this Committee

         20  before, that we are looking at service suspensions

         21  as one aggressive enforcement tool along with the

         22  other customer service improvements that we had

         23  spoken about previously.  We feel that the

         24  aggressive enforcement needs to be combined with

         25  improvements in the clarity of our billing and the
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          2  accuracy of our billing as well as the service to

          3  our customers in terms of things like minimizing the

          4  waiting time and maximizing the information they can

          5  get from our customer call center to resolve billing

          6  concerns.  So, we've been attacking the customer

          7  service end of it first to make it easier for them

          8  to resolve their billing concerns, to improve the

          9  consistent actual read history of our bills, but

         10  then, yes, we do want to consider, for those who

         11  still don't pay, more aggressive enforcement tools,

         12  which could include residential shut- offs and lien

         13  sales.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well I agree

         15  with all of things you just said.  I don't know

         16  about  --  Lien sales I'm a little skeptical about,

         17  but I think you won't need lien sales if you cut-

         18  off service and you have to have appropriate

         19  safeguards. I've talked about this before.  Maybe

         20  not with you, but I've talked because I've been

         21  involved in that in connection with other utilities,

         22  gas and electric, but you can't have safeguards and

         23  with proper safeguards the people who pay their

         24  water bills are being penalized by the people who

         25  don't.  So I agree with all of what you said.  The
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          2  better service is very important as well.  I agree

          3  with that, but I think the time is  --  You know we

          4  go from year to year to year.  It's time now to do

          5  something about this.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right,

          7  and, again, just our own research, and combined with

          8  that of Booz Allen, in terms of not so much whether

          9  those aggressive enforcement techniques would be

         10  effective, but targeting which portion of our

         11  customers who have arrears because  --  As we've

         12  said before, we have people who are in arrears,

         13  let's say between one and two years.  We have those

         14  who are in arrears for longer periods.  The

         15  recommendations to us are going to be targeting

         16  certain segments of those arrears where we have the

         17  greatest chance of being able to collect.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I appreciate

         19  that, but I think that your earlier comment was

         20  accurate.  That is if you turn people off they will

         21  pay the bill, and so we ought to explore

         22  implementing that system, and if it requires

         23  legislation, I for one --  I can't speak for the

         24  whole Council.  I can only speak for me. But I'm

         25  perfectly happy even though some people might be
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          2  unhappy with it.  I'll support legislation, if

          3  required.  If it requires legislation in Albany,

          4  I'll certainly recommend that.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          8  Thank you, Council Member, Koppell.  I want to

          9  recognize the presence of Council Member Yassky who

         10  has joined us.  Thank you for joining us, David, and

         11  I recognize Council Member Melissa Mark- Viverito

         12  for questions.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chair, and I'm going to kind of delve a little

         15  bit.  I do have some capital, but I also  --

         16  Unfortunately, it's kind of related to the expense

         17  issue.  So I think it might delve into both.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Certainly.  What

         19  happened is Council Member Vallone  --  I gave him

         20  that latitude and Oliver and certainly  --  So there

         21  you have it.  So we're getting in to the expense

         22  part of the hearing now.  So we're doing a blend

         23  right now of capital and expense to be finished by

         24  only expense questions. Please continue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: When
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          2  talking about the Combined Sewer Overflows and Best

          3  Management Practices on the sixth page of your

          4  testimony, you mention in the second paragraph that

          5  in support of DEP's commitment to BMP's more than

          6  $138 million has been reserved for land acquisition,

          7  and then you just kind of throw in there a further

          8  $650,000 has been committed to the construction of a

          9  green roof at Pace University.  This project will

         10  reduce local storm water runoff and model

         11  technologies that could eventually be implemented

         12  City- wide.  I mean I appreciate that because I've

         13  been a green roof fanatic and I kind of propose and

         14  talk about them, and just sustainable design in

         15  general, and how it can kind of compliment,

         16  obviously, the mission of DEP.  So it's kind of

         17  thrown in here almost as an aside, but I'm just

         18  trying to figure out what kind of thinking, along

         19  these lines, plays in your thinking and in your

         20  strategizing moving forward  --  you know the kind

         21  of sustainable design elements as a way of

         22  complimenting the work and the mission that you have

         23  and if you can talk about any additional measure

         24  similar to this one that are being implemented or

         25  any money that has been set aside for these kind of
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          2  strategies.  That's my first question.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Well

          4  yes, and taking the first part first about the green

          5  roof at Pace.  As I said, we would look to the

          6  results of that in terms of it's ability to capture

          7  and detain storm water and use the results of that

          8  in our further long- term planning and seeing how

          9  expansion of that to more buildings, wider

         10  applications City- wide, can have benefits in

         11  reducing percentage of our Combined Sewer Overflows.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: So

         13  that's just a pilot of some sort.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It's a

         15  pilot that  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: But

         17  you're only doing it in this one location.  You're

         18  not looking to do it  --

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right.

         20  That would allow us to gather data on this

         21  particular design and be able to model from that

         22  what benefits could result in CSO mitigation by

         23  spreading this much wider City- wide.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: But do

         25  you think that just this one project is really going
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          2  to be able to give you the data to substantiate

          3  that?  Maybe setting up several green roofs in the

          4  same area  --  I mean I'm just trying to think about

          5  greater capacity.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I think

          7  we're trying to take this one step at a time, and so

          8  we have money allocated for this, and then if we see

          9  that this is producing benefits, and we can

         10  extrapolate those benefits to covering larger areas

         11  that then we would be looking to fund other pilots

         12  perhaps.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Now let

         14  me ask you a question because in my district, for

         15  instance, there are some development projects coming

         16  down the line.  I personally am also making capital

         17  allocations for green roofs, and I am hoping and

         18  projecting to have many in my district.  Is there a

         19  way of working with DEP to use any sort of area as a

         20  model in gathering data to kind of lend validity to

         21   --

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: We would

         23  be happy to work with you and certainly gather data.

         24    We do have data.  We work with developers on

         25  proposed developments to review their construction,
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          2  their plans, for example, for storm water detention,

          3  their drainage plans, and so we do get involved.  If

          4  there are particular areas that you are interested

          5  in, we would be more than happy to work with you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I mean

          7  because once they're established, which obviously

          8  it's not going to be right away. It'll be in a

          9  couple of years maybe or something, but if there is

         10  a way of working with DEP to kind of gather the data

         11    --  You know there's four in a particular area.

         12  It might really help strengthen your argument.  You

         13  know people might think these are micro- issues, and

         14  there are people talking about these greater issues,

         15  but I'm very strong on the conservation front and

         16  starting to change patterns in behavior at a local

         17  level.  So that was my second question with regards

         18  to DEP and on the expense side.  You know that I

         19  know I've heard your Commissioner.  She's come to

         20  our Manhattan delegation and she has been here many

         21  times and talked about conservation obviously, but I

         22  wanted to understand how the conservation, as a

         23  policy, is structured within your department, and

         24  what is the money that is invested in conservation

         25  in terms of education at a greater level with the
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          2  City to encourage people to conserve?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS:

          4  Certainly we do promote water conservation, and we

          5  have on our website, and we have in our print

          6  literature and our bill inserts, reminders to

          7  conserve water. I think the results of this can be

          8  seen in data on actual water consumption that we've

          9  been tracking over the years.  The trend has been a

         10  very consistent downward trend over many years.

         11  This year it appears so far that water consumption

         12  is between two and three below last year.  That is

         13  certainly good news for the long- term. It's good

         14  news in terms of issues we mentioned earlier like

         15  ensuring dependability of water supply when we go to

         16  repair the Delaware Aqueduct that this very

         17  consistent trend of reduced water consumption will

         18  help ensure that when we reduce a part of our supply

         19  that we're still able to meet the demand.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: But as

         21  an agency, is conservation   --  Do you have an

         22  specific allocation or division or department that

         23  deals with that aspect?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right.

         25  We do, and that comes under Deputy Commissioner
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          2  Singleton.  You may recall in the early '90's, not

          3  as a Council Member but just as a resident, that

          4  there was an aggressive toilet rebate program that

          5  DEP initiated. I believe something like a million

          6  toilets were replaced.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: More

          8  or less.  I wasn't involved in that.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: More or

         10  less, but the point was we had allocated money.  We

         11  have money budgeted in the Capital Plan for a next

         12  round of conservation, a next round of toilet rebate

         13  program, another program that looks at washing

         14  machines, that looks at the public schools and

         15  replacing their fixtures with lower consumption

         16  fixtures.  I don't recall the specific dollar

         17  amount, but those are key elements of the plan over

         18  the next five to ten years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: I am

         20  encouraged by that and clearly that's a look at

         21  things  --

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I don't

         23  know if you want to say anymore about it.  Joe

         24  Singleton is going to say a little bit more about it

         25  if that's okay with you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

          3  No problem.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: Thank

          5  you.  The allocation is under a funding line called

          6  EP 10.  There is $5 million dollars for '08 and $29

          7  million dollars the following year.

          8                 That initial toilet rebate program

          9  will be geared towards properties that want to get

         10  into the multi- family conservation program.  A lot

         11  of the older buildings that are water challenged, as

         12  far as their usage, if you change out the toilets

         13  and do other conservation measures, you'll then

         14  qualify for a fixed rate for that building, a per

         15  unit charge.  Currently, there are about 500 units

         16  City- wide in that program.  We encourage people to

         17  visit the website, get more information on that.  We

         18  just did an outreach to an affordable housing group

         19  out of the Bronx.

         20                 Additionally, there are some

         21  conservation devices for tank toilets that we've

         22  gotten an agreement with the manufacturer to

         23  distribute about 200 of those for free if you get

         24  test results on that.  If you want to contact me

         25  afterwards, I'd be more than happy to take your
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          2  information.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Okay.

          4  Thank you.  I appreciate that, and I look forward to

          5  hearing more.  I think it's very important that we

          6  keep on that strategy as well.  I appreciate it.

          7  Thank you very much.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Thank

          9  you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         11  Melissa.  Domenic --  I recognize Council Member

         12  Recchia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chairman.  On page six of your testimony, at the

         15  top, it says DEP has allocated nearly $2.5 billion

         16  for sewer upgrades and emergency repair City wide,

         17  and then you go on to say $427 million is devoted to

         18  sewer build- outs and reduced flooding in South East

         19  Queens.  Then I went and looked into your budget and

         20  saw that you put $155.5 million for storm sewers in

         21  the Rockaways.  You put $60 million  --  you put

         22  other monies in for other drainage and sewer

         23  problems throughout New York City.  Could you tell

         24  me how much you put in for the Coney Island Pumping

         25  Station and the upgrades in the sewers in Coney
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          2  Island and where in the budget it says it?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I think

          4  we'll have to get back to you on that, Council

          5  Member Recchia.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, I could

          7  save it for you.  It's not in the budget.  I'm tired

          8  of it.  I will not vote, or pass this budget, until

          9  you wake up and start thinking about Coney Island.

         10  We're tired of being last.  Your staff came out to

         11  Coney Island and had this whole plan on the pumping

         12  station and the upgrades on what you're going to do.

         13    We had a plan.  You started it.  You cleaned out

         14  all the sewers, and then the project just died.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I'd

         16  actually like to call up Deputy Commissioner Jim

         17  Roberts from Water and Sewer Operations to talk

         18  about this.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Great.  If he

         20  has something to say, great.  I want to hear it.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Thank

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Mr. Roberts,

         24  we'll just swear you in, if that's okay?  The

         25  Council will give you the oath and you state your
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          2  name for the record, then you can answer the Council

          3  Member's question.

          4                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: In the

          5  testimony that you are about to give, do you swear

          6  or affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth, and

          7  nothing but the truth.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I do.

          9                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: In

         11  answer to your question Councilman, the  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Excuse me.  Two

         13  things.  First of all, you've got to speak right

         14  into the microphone and you should state your name

         15  for the record before you begin your response.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: My name

         17  is James Roberts, and in response to the Council

         18  Member's question, I believe there is an allocation

         19  in place for FY 2010 for WP, I think it's 169, which

         20  is $20 million dollars for the project that he's

         21  referencing.  I believe it's in the budget.

         22                 In addition, over the past three

         23  fiscal years, we've spent about three- quarters of a

         24  million dollars  --  Those are rough numbers  --

         25  in sewer cleaning and maintenance on the sewers in
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          2  that area.  Upwards of, I think, 41,000 linear feet

          3  of sewer have been cleaned out, and the number of

          4  sewer complaints, relative to that area, have

          5  dropped from I believe the number was 355 in FY '05

          6  down to about 109, or thereabout, in FY '07.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: The $20

          8  million for 2010 is that including the pumping

          9  station.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: It's my

         11  understanding, Council Member, that that $20 million

         12  is for the construction of the pumping station in

         13  question, but I would also further state, at this

         14  point, that I don't think that we've made the

         15  conclusive determination that that pumping station

         16  is going to be necessary pending the initiatives

         17  that we've been pursuing thus far with the sewer

         18  cleaning and there are a number of initiatives that

         19  are going forward as we speak with regard to sewer

         20  lining and cleaning with DEC.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: But the

         22  problem was that right after the sewers were all

         23  cleaned, construction was going to start on

         24  replacing the sewers at Coney Island, and that has

         25  not happened, and the sewers finished cleaning, I
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          2  believe, last year. We had a whole big meeting DEP

          3  came down and gave us a plan, and the plan just

          4  died.  They were supposed to start replacing the

          5  sewers now.

          6                 The problem that I have is that we

          7  have major construction going on that's going to

          8  start in Coney Island.  We're planning to put

          9  approximately 6,000 units of housing.  How are the

         10  sewers going to handle all this influx and what's

         11  going to happen? Why didn't it start right after the

         12  cleaning up of the sewers?  By the time we start

         13  going to the next phase, the sewers could be all

         14  clogged again.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well,

         16  Council Member, as you said, it takes a period of

         17  time to perform that work and it has been ongoing

         18  over the past two or three calendar years.  I also

         19  believe that there is a project that is in place for

         20  roughly $12 million dollars that involves storm

         21  sewer and outflows on I believe West 15th Street

         22  which is a part of the overall sewer ratio in your

         23  area.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Is that $15

         25  million in the budget?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: $12

          3  million, I believe it is.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: $12 million.

          5  That's in the budget?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: That's

          7  my understanding.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And that's

          9  for the Coney Island project or is it under  --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I can

         11  get you the details.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I

         13  believe we're also scheduled to meet with you next

         14  week, Council Member Recchia, and so certainly  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  If we could

         16  have all this lined out because I'm getting pressure

         17  from my community on why the sewers were cleaned and

         18  I have all these developers coming in and

         19  questioning and asking me about the pumping station.

         20    This is the first time I ever heard that the

         21  pumping station might not be placed there.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Well we

         23  will certainly layout for you, at the meeting next

         24  week, a complete picture.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay, but I

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  just want you to know that I'm getting pressure and

          3  I have to speak up for our community.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: We

          5  appreciate that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.  Thank

          7  you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Recchia, and apropos of this issue as

         10  you know there is a procedure by which Members can

         11  put forward issues to the Speaker's Office and the

         12  Finance Division for inclusion in the Council's

         13  formal Budget Response.  I'd be happy to sort of

         14  join you in having this Coney Island project be sort

         15  of like one of my issues  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Thank you

         17  very much.  Right after my meeting with DEP next

         18  week, I'll contact you to discuss this further.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure and we

         20  should put in a request that this be included as

         21  part of the Council's formal Budget Response.  If we

         22  could have you concerns recognized in the Budget

         23  Response, I think it would be helpful.  I'm happy to

         24  help. I didn't know of the issue, but thank you for

         25  bringing it forward.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Hopefully we can

          5  get something done on that.  Thank you, Council

          6  Member Recchia.  I recognize Council Member Yassky

          7  for questions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

          9  much, Chair Gennaro, and thank you for giving me the

         10  opportunity.  As you know, I don't sit on this

         11  Committee, but I very much appreciate your giving me

         12  the opportunity to ask a couple of questions very

         13  pertinent to the constituents in my district.

         14                 Two areas of inquiry; the first is

         15  the Newtown Creek Sewage Treatment Plant which I see

         16  your testimony say there is still another $1.9

         17  billion to go I guess on that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Can you just

         20  give me the basic schedule there?  I know it says

         21  here secondary treatment up and running by 2014.

         22  You're running some sewage now, as I understand it,

         23  through the new process that this plant is supposed

         24  to  --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.
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          2  I'm going  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Somebody's

          4  going to come up.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes,

          6  Council Member Yassky.  I'm going to ask Al Lopez,

          7  our Deputy Commissioner for Engineering Design and

          8  Construction to address Newtown Creek.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Al, how are you

         11  doing?  We'll just get you here and then we can

         12  proceed.

         13                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         14  raise your right hand.  In the testimony that you

         15  are about to give do you swear or affirm to tell the

         16  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: I do.

         18                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Al.

         20  Good to see you.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ:

         22  Councilman, in response to your question, yes, we've

         23  started up some new tankage that's on the north side

         24  of plant, and that tankage, or that part of the

         25  process, is running on secondary treatment.  The
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          2  intent, obviously, is to have the whole plant

          3  running on advanced treatment and secondary

          4  treatment sometime in the future.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What can you

          6  say about how it's going so far?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ:

          8  Construction is progressing fair  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Not the

         10  construction.  I'm sorry, but the secondary  --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: The

         12  process.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: The process

         14  that your  --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: The

         16  process is running well.  It's running as expected,

         17  as designed.  We don't have any reason to believe

         18  that we'll run into problems as we go further on and

         19  retrofit the additional tankage to that same level

         20  of process.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And in terms

         22  of odor control for the surrounding neighborhood, do

         23  you have a sense yet of how the new process is

         24  working?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: Well the
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          2  new process in it of itself is a higher level of

          3  treatment and it would be less odorous to begin

          4  with, but the big difference is that the new process

          5  is, and you've been to the plant many times, the

          6  tankage is covered there, and as we bring on the new

          7  tanks in the central battery and the south battery

          8  online in the new process mode, we will also be

          9  covering those tanks as well.  So it's really two

         10  mechanisms to address the odors.  One of them is the

         11  increased level of treatment and the second is the

         12  covering of the tanks and the use of odor control

         13  systems to pull the air from those covered tanks and

         14  treating it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And you're on

         16  schedule for full  --  Everything running through

         17  will be secondary treatment by 2014?  What percent

         18  is it now?  Is it a quarter maybe?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: The single

         20  battery on the north side in one- third of the

         21  plant.  I think it's one- third of the plant tankage

         22  in terms of the amount of flow.  It's probably

         23  taking a little less than a third of the flow

         24  because we're sort of babying the process as we go

         25  along.  We have to keep in mind the fact that a lot
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          2  of construction activity is still taking place even

          3  though those tanks are in service.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And so is it

          5  two more tanks? So the total of each one is a third?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: Two more

          7  batteries.  Each one of those has several tanks in

          8  them.  So each one of those will be a third.  That's

          9  correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: When does the

         11  second one become operational?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: I'd have

         13  to get you the schedule.  I can't tell you off the

         14  top of my head.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I know we were

         16  talking about this briefly before the hearing

         17  started that of course the sludge then runs through

         18  a pipe that currently then goes into a boat that

         19  takes it to Wards Island, and I know there were

         20  twist and turns in the planning process, but the

         21  current plan  --  I just want to confirm this  --

         22  is to continue having sludge run through a pipe and

         23  into a boat, not go directly as was talked about,

         24  but continue to use the boat, but move the location

         25  where the boat will be loaded from the East River
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          2  into Newtown Creek.  Am I correct in that?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ:

          4  Essentially that's it. The sludge currently goes to

          5  the dock on the East River, and it's taken by

          6  vessel, by boat, not to Ward's Island, from Newtown

          7  Creek over to Hunt's Point and there it's

          8  centrifuged and de- watered and then goes on for

          9  further treatment.  The plan is to stop the

         10  operation on the East River and the target date for

         11  that is 2010, and we will do that by relocating the

         12  dock operation from the East River dock to the dock

         13  on Newtown Creek Whale Creek, Newtown Creek area.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And when you

         15  say target date, what's your level of confidence on

         16  that?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: Right now,

         18  the work is under design.  There's two levels of

         19  design that take place.  It's the modification of

         20  the facility itself over in Newtown Creek, and the

         21  other piece is actually building custom vessels, or

         22  barges, that will be able to move the material.  Our

         23  existing fleet has vessels that can't navigate that

         24  waterway, and so we are in the process of purchasing

         25  new vessels.  So we have pretty good confidence with
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          2  the date.  It doesn't have a lot float, doesn't have

          3  a lot of excess time, but right now it looks like we

          4  will be able to number one, do the modifications,

          5  and number two, build the vessels within schedule.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  The

          7  vessel part  -- That a little bit worries me in

          8  terms of slippage.  It seems like that's something

          9  we haven't done in a long while, as a City, I'm

         10  guessing, buy this kind of vessel.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: No, we've

         12  built vessels. We have built vessels.  These are

         13  going to be  --  We have built vessels.  In all

         14  cases, they're custom vessels for our use, our

         15  application.  These, again, will be custom design,

         16  custom built, not like anything we've built before

         17  because they need to have the low- profile to get

         18  under the bridges, but we've done this before.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.  Well I

         20  appreciate that, and I'd appreciate your just

         21  keeping me, and I'll undertake to checking with you,

         22  but keep me posted as we go so that I have a sense

         23  of whether we are staying on schedule or not.  Thank

         24  you for that, and then on a  --  I apologize, Mr.

         25  Chair.  I don't know if you covered this already,
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          2  the combined sewer overflow plan.  Did you cover

          3  that earlier in the hearing?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: They covered

          5  that in their testimony, and Jonathan did somebody

          6  cover that in a question? This is a big issue to

          7  you, Council Member, I assume to grant you the

          8  latitude to probe that.  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Do you have a

         10  sense of how we are doing in terms of gallons of CSO

         11  output this year as compared to last year?  And then

         12  my question is going to be what's your schedule for

         13  the plan you have in place?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I'll

         15  have to get back to you on that, Council Member

         16  Yassky, on the CSO volumes this year versus last.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, and then

         18  what's your implementation schedule?  How much is

         19  that now as a budget program?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: The

         21  total in the January Plan is $1.3 billion.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Does that

         23  still  --  That doesn't include the big bathtubs

         24  anymore or it does?  I mean are we --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: For
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          2  English Kills, near Newtown Creek, which I addressed

          3  in the written testimony.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, and I

          5  apologize.  So you are  --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: That's

          7  okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry.  So

          9  ongoing construction of the detention tanks at

         10  Paerdegat Basin and Flushing Meadows.  That's what

         11  you're  --  There are two of these now.  Is that the

         12  idea?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right,

         14  and then the testimony also referred, maybe not in

         15  exactly the same place, to English Kills.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So there are

         17  three of them?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: No, there

         20  is also Spring Creek, and we are building another

         21  facility in Alley Creek.  That's more of a tunnel

         22  than it is a tank itself, but is serves the same

         23  purpose.  It works the same way.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What's your

         25  construction schedule on those?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: I can get

          3  you the specific timings on those.  Again, I don't

          4  have them off the top of my head.  Again, Spring

          5  Creek is under construction.  Paerdegat's under

          6  construction.  Alley Creek is also under

          7  construction, as is Flushing, and as Commissioner

          8  Lawitts mentioned, we are planning to do the English

          9  Kills.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: My last

         11  question is as you know, the Environmental Impact

         12  Statement for the large proposed project at Atlantic

         13  Yards in Brooklyn says that there will be a

         14  significant increase in the amount of CSO outflow

         15  caused by the project.  Do we have plans to address

         16  that?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: We're

         18  increasing the capacity at the Gowanus Pumping

         19  Station, and that will address the additional  --

         20  I'm not sure if it's a trade off, you know gallon

         21  for gallon.  We can get back to you on that.  But

         22  that increase  -- Let me put it differently.  It

         23  increases the capacity at that location to convey

         24  Combined Sewer Overflow to the treatment plant and

         25  it'll reduce the amount of CSO.  It doesn't exactly
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          2  answer your question about the trade- off with

          3  Atlantic Yards, but we are working on that water

          4  body.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry.

          6  Can you tell me that improvement again?  I just

          7  didn't follow, and it's my fault.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: There's a

          9  pumping station, Gowanus Pumping Station, and we're

         10  increasing the capacity of the Gowanus Pumping

         11  Station, and that handles Combined Sewage Flow for

         12  that same area.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: You mean that

         14  circulates the water in the canal out to the river?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: No, no.

         16  There are two different Gowanus Pumping Stations.

         17  There is one that conveys flow to the treatment

         18  plant.  That's the one that I'm talking about whose

         19  capacity will be increased.  There is a separate

         20  Gowanus Pumping Station that is used to flush the

         21  Gowanus, and that's being upgraded as well.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What's the

         23  capacity of that --  How many gallons of an upgrade

         24  is that one?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: I'll get
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          2  back to you on the numbers on that.  Okay, it's a

          3  significant upgrade capacity on the pumping station

          4  to convey flow.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

          6  Mr. Chair, thank you.  I appreciate the opportunity.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

          8  Council Member Yassky.  I just have some final

          9  capital questions, and one has to do with the Staten

         10  Island Bluebelt Land Acquisition Program.  On page

         11  six of your statement, it indicates in relation to

         12  Best Management Practices that "more than $138

         13  million has been reserved for land acquisition under

         14  the Staten Island Bluebelt Program", and I'd like to

         15  find out what that is.  I know what the Staten

         16  Island Bluebelt Program is, but this $138 million

         17  dollar item, land acquisition, what is that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: One

         19  moment, please.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It's for

         22  the Mid- Island Bluebelt, but in terms of the

         23  specific locations, if we could get back to you, Mr.

         24  Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: My point is, and
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          2  it's probably apparent to some where I'm going with

          3  this, that it's $138 million dollars for land

          4  acquisition in Staten Island?  Right?  So that would

          5  be fair to say.  So that is what it is for.  It's to

          6  purchase land, and then the land has the ability to

          7  assimilate water, and that saves on capital

          8  construction costs.  You would otherwise have to

          9  build sewers.  It's kind of like along these lines,

         10  right?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It's for

         12  both land acquisition and the resulting construction

         13  of that land that we acquire to create the Bluebelt.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So of the $138

         15  million dollars, do we know how much is to purchase

         16  land and how much is for capital construction on

         17  that land?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I don't

         19  know that now. I will get that information for you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay because

         21  obviously I seem to be on this land acquisition

         22  fixation, and the irony was that DEP sees the wisdom

         23  of purchasing land because it is going to have cost

         24  avoidance and having to build a lot more

         25  infrastructure sort of concrete solutions than they
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          2  would otherwise have to build, and I agree with that

          3  logic.  That, absolutely, is the good thing to do,

          4  and the irony is that while this seems to make sense

          5  for Staten Island, the Upstate Watershed is not

          6  getting this kind of commitment.  What is being

          7  risked is not some capital construction that would

          8  otherwise have to be done in Staten Island to build

          9  sewers, but the building of the $6 to $10 billion

         10  dollar filtration plant which we all wish to avoid.

         11  So if we could have further information on precisely

         12  what projects are part of this $138 million dollar

         13  item and how much is dedicated to purchasing land

         14  versus concrete.  That would be great.

         15                 Moving forward, this question has to

         16  do with a South Eastern Queens Sewer Projects.  The

         17  January Plan includes of $427 million dollars in new

         18  capital commitments in sewer build- out in South

         19  East Queens.  This would include $117 million almost

         20  for Beasley Boulevard, $155 million for Springfield

         21  Boulevard, and $155 million for Rockaway storm

         22  sewers.  The question is what is the scope of these

         23  projects?  What are the boundaries for the work and

         24  how are these sites selected?  When will people who

         25  live in this area who have flooding begin to see the
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          2  flooding subside?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Again,

          4  for this, I'm going to ask Deputy Commissioner Jim

          5  Roberts to answer.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Mr.

          7  Chairman, the question that you've asked is multi-

          8  question, but I'll see if I could piece it together

          9  in one thing.  The issue with the drainage in South

         10  East Queens is basically at the point where we've

         11  got the area split into two phases.  Phase One where

         12  the drainage plan, and there's a reference to study

         13  in one of the questions that I had seen.  It's a

         14  plan, not a study.  The delineation of the size, the

         15  type and route of the sewers is really outlayed in

         16  that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.

         18  You're getting a little ahead of me because I see

         19  that you have seen the second part of the question

         20  already.  Good.  Okay, you're one step ahead of me

         21  which is good.  Please continue.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: So Phase

         23  One of that drainage initiative in South East Queens

         24    --  The boundaries run roughly from the Queens

         25  line on the Nassau County side to the Grand Central
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          2  Parkway, and for rough purposes we'll say Farmers

          3  Boulevard on the West and the Conduit on the South.

          4  Phase Two, which again we'll talk about it in a

          5  second, is really from Farmers to the Van Wyck with

          6  the same north and south boundaries.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Farmers to the

          8  Van Wyck going from the Grand Central  --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Grand

         10  Central to the Conduit.  In rough terms, those are

         11  the boundaries.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So that includes

         13  part of my district.  Now I'm really getting

         14  interested.  Okay.  Please continue.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The

         16  second half of your question I think was how do we

         17  establish where work gets done and what's going to

         18  be done next and along that line.  Phase One with

         19  the design completed will allow us to immediately

         20  start to scope and build our projects.  I believe

         21  there are a number of projects that are already

         22  identified that can now be built because we have the

         23  design, and working cooperatively with DOT and DDC,

         24  we'll be able to scope our projects that tie into

         25  the existing  --  I'll use the term spine  --  the
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          2  Springfield Boulevard and Farmers Outlets, the major

          3  outfalls that already are constructed.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.  I

          5  just have to confer with staff for a second.  At one

          6  of the Speaker's outreach meetings on the budget

          7  that she did in Queens that I was at, the Chairman

          8  of CB 13, Richard Hellenbrecht had raised an issue

          9  regarding South East Queens, sewers and projects.

         10  He is, I think, having difficulty, Richard

         11  Hellenbrecht that is, understanding where his

         12  community board, Board 13, fits into the overall

         13  plan here and to what extent is there overlap with

         14  this plan, or this proposal, and his community

         15  board.  When can he start seeing results?  He made a

         16  presentation, or asked a detailed question about

         17  this at the Speaker's conversation on the budget.

         18  Do you have knowledge of the boundaries of Community

         19  Board 13 and how they interact with this area?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Not

         21  specifically.  I'd have to look.  We'd be glad to

         22  sit down and talk to them if he's got specific

         23  questions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Why don't you do

         25  this?  If you would reach out to Richard
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          2  Hellenbrecht who is the Chairman of Community Board

          3  13, and indicate that the Chairman of the Committee

          4  made an issue of this at the budget hearing that

          5  would be a great thing.  You know because he was  --

          6    made a real presentation at that forum, and staff

          7  has been talking about it.  We just want to make

          8  sure that he's followed up with, and I certainly

          9  appreciate it.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I'd be

         11  more than happy to do that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure, sure.

         13  That would be great, and Jonathan if you could reach

         14  out to Mr. Hellenbrecht also and find out how that

         15  went.  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you for that.

         16                 Now I'm paraphrasing here from the

         17  question, but the plan that's was put forward of $19

         18  billion dollars  --  Once upon a time, when it

         19  originally presented to OMB much larger than what it

         20  is now, and this larger amount that was not approved

         21  by OMB for release with the Plan was derived from a

         22  risk assessment survey that DEP is currently in the

         23  process of finalizing.  I hope that was clear.  So

         24  this was, at one time, a much larger capital ask

         25  that was put forward to OMB, it was trimmed down and
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          2  that amount was from this risk assessment survey

          3  that DEP is in the process of finalizing.  Could you

          4  please share with the Committee your findings from

          5  this survey?  Could you tell us about what this risk

          6  assessment survey is?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS:

          8  Certainly, Mr. Chair. We've been referring to this

          9  survey as our risk- based needs identification.

         10  Other large infrastructure agencies in the region

         11  conduct similar surveys.  They call them by

         12  different names.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Some

         15  simply call them needs assessments, but essentially

         16  what it was was we had engineers look at literally

         17  thousands of components of our infrastructure and

         18  look at their age.  They did a visual inspection to

         19  try and assess visually what the condition was.

         20  They took this information and compared it to

         21  information about average useful life for certain

         22  types of components.  The history of our particular

         23  systems, in terms of their history of failure, if

         24  there is one, and took all these factors, and more,

         25  together and assigned a rating to each. In the case
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          2  of let's say a waste water treatment plant.

          3  Individual components such as a pump  --   The pump

          4  may be part of a larger front end system in the

          5  water treatment plant so they looked at the other

          6  components and gave an overall rating for that

          7  front- end system.  They looked at the other systems

          8  in that plant and rolled all that up into a rating

          9  for the plant as a whole so we could look at it at

         10  different discrete levels, which is important for

         11  the next step.

         12                 You refer to a $40 billion dollar

         13  plant.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I didn't.  I was

         15  oblique, but thank you for  --  Sure.  I mean that

         16  was a number that I  --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I just

         18  wanted to make clear  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That was

         20  reported in at least one media outlet and then I got

         21  a question on it before I knew anything about it,

         22  but please continue.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I just

         24  want the Committee to understand, and you, Mr.

         25  Chair, that in this biannual process that we have
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          2  which eventually resolves in a ten- year capital

          3  budget there kind of a continuum where as we did at

          4  the first step in this case was going out and

          5  looking at the infrastructure and saying it looks

          6  like it's in this condition and we can assign rating

          7  to it.  Then the next step is to quantify what the

          8  capital costs might be if we were to address those

          9  infrastructure needs both higher priority and lower

         10  priority and the second   --  So in terms of what we

         11  had and because we share our planning process with

         12  OMB because they are our partners in funding along

         13  with the City Council and we have to be in- step to

         14  determine what the proper level of capital funding

         15  is and so we shared with them our thinking on this

         16  which is here is a set of needs some of which are

         17  higher priority and should be addressed in this ten-

         18  year plan, some of which are probably looming out

         19  there in the more distant future, and where you draw

         20  the budget line depends in part on how far down this

         21  priority list of infrastructure upgrading needs you

         22  go.  That was one part of this discussion we had

         23  with OMB.

         24                 There were two other components to

         25  that.  One was we had looked at a range of
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          2  construction inflation rates for purposes of

          3  estimating what different projects would cost.

          4                 Let me talk about the inflation for a

          5  minute.  Part of this higher figure, we had

          6  previously discussed, was a much more conservative

          7  assumption about inflation that reflected the worst

          8  peaking of inflation that we experienced about a

          9  year and a half to two years ago, as did all other

         10  large City construction agencies, which was a

         11  function of increases in producer prices, a large

         12  amount of construction going on in the City, all

         13  over the City, a saturated market.  So we had a very

         14  conservative inflation assumption and we also, as a

         15  third component of this, were discussing whether

         16  there should be a way to build in an allowance for

         17  change orders that often result on large

         18  construction projects in the very beginning of the

         19  budget process, which is something that we haven't

         20  done traditionally.

         21                 Traditionally, we fund change orders

         22  as they come along because in an agency like ours

         23  with our large construction projects and as we had

         24  said earlier, our projects typically go on for

         25  longer than three years.  The Croton Filtration
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          2  Plant, for example, has a five- year construction

          3  duration, and sometimes you don't negotiate change

          4  orders until the fifth year.  So through these

          5  discussions we agreed that one, we would use an

          6  inflation rate that  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We as in you and

          8  OMB?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.  We

         10  agreed that we would use an inflation rate that was

         11  not the most conservative rate, but is a rate that

         12  reflects more recent experience and is the rate that

         13  all other construction agencies in the City are

         14  using which is about three percent a year.  We're

         15  monitoring that very closely, and if we need to

         16  change that, we will.

         17                 On the Change Order Allowance, we

         18  agreed that is was not good fiscal policy to tie up

         19  a lot of budget money upfront for change orders

         20  which might not materialize on projects until

         21  several to many years out, and that we would, as we

         22  have in the past, find a way with OMB to fund those

         23  change orders as they come along as opposed to say,

         24  in this case, tieing up $3 billion dollars upfront

         25  for prospective change orders.
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          2                 And third was, in terms of how far

          3  down on this state of good repair analysis we go, we

          4  drew a line I'll say somewhere in the middle.  So

          5  those three factors in accounted for the difference

          6  between what had been a discussion of a potentially

          7  larger need and the one that's reflected in the $23

          8  billion dollar plan.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank

         10  you.  Thank you for giving me the whole story there.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: You're

         12  welcome.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I appreciate

         14  that and you mentioned something that I was going to

         15  get to a little further down, but as long as you

         16  mentioned it now, the whole change order issue.  As

         17  you recall, you and I were the featured speakers at

         18  an event at 101 Park with the Building Congress and

         19  the general contractors at which the issue of change

         20  of change order was discussed, and there was a lot

         21  of question with regard to how long it takes change

         22  orders to get processed and how the construction

         23  industry has to build these changes in and it takes

         24  more than a year to get done.  At the end of the

         25  day, most of them get approved anyway.  Isn't there
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          2  someway we can figure out a way to move things

          3  forward in a better manner akin to what I think you

          4  used to do back at the School Construction Authority

          5    --  The School Construction Authority, right?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: They have some

          8  protocol or paradigm for sort of working with these

          9  that seems to work better as does the TA, I think.

         10  I'd like you to speak to that change order issue and

         11  what progress we've made since we both appeared

         12  together on that issue, but before you respond I

         13  just want to say that we're joined by Council Member

         14  Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes,

         16  thank you.  I do recall that we were speakers

         17  together in the fall.  As we meet with

         18  representatives of the construction industry

         19  probably the issue that comes up most often, those

         20  discussions, is the issue of change orders and our

         21  ability to process them much more quickly than we

         22  have in the past.  As part of our overall look at

         23  our capital program management this was definitely a

         24  big piece that we have been working on and so our

         25  capital program management consultants with us have
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          2  been looking at the entire process from the time

          3  that a change is identified until the time that the

          4  contractor gets paid, which as you observed has

          5  historically been over a year, which we don't think

          6  is acceptable and which has contributed because the

          7  contractors are having to finance this work while

          8  the change orders are negotiated and processed and

          9  that, all other things being equal, makes the

         10  construction more expensive.  So we have  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Not only that,

         12  but probably precludes people who could otherwise

         13  bid on these jobs but can't this specter of having

         14  to do financing of change orders that may happen may

         15  just leave them in the lurch.  So we're losing their

         16  involvement.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: And we

         18  certainly think improving this is critical to being

         19  more competitive, attracting more of the top- tier

         20  bidders, and making it easier to do business with

         21  us.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So where are we?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: We have

         24  identified several pieces of the process that we

         25  feel we can shorten.  One is there are some steps we
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          2  can cut out but still maintain control over the

          3  change order process.  There are some steps that

          4  need to remain in there, but the time can be

          5  compressed including the time it takes us and the

          6  contractor to negotiate the price, and then there is

          7  the funding of the change orders.

          8                 Part of what we were looking at

          9  earlier when I spoke a few minutes ago was to

         10  accelerate the funding part of this by budgeting

         11  something upfront, but as I've said, we've been

         12  working with OMB, and I think we have a better

         13  process in place no.  As an example of that, after

         14  the City's financial system re- opened, after the

         15  January Plan was released, so just in the one- month

         16  period between mid- January and mid- February, we

         17  were able to process $150 million dollars in change

         18  orders, and that's the kind of pace that we would

         19  like to maintain and even accelerate, and when we're

         20  successful at doing this versus same period then

         21  it's important for us to communicate that to the

         22  construction community.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me just kind

         24  of probe that a little bit.  First of all you

         25  mention that DEP's Capital Program Management
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          2  Consultant.  Is this something that DEP always has

          3  in place or is this an entity that's been engaged in

          4  order to specifically look at this and other issues

          5  and they're here for finite period and once they get

          6  done, it's going to be a new world order?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It's

          8  more of the latter, Mr. Chair.  We had spoken about

          9  this before that we had engaged the firm of

         10  Montgomery Watson to look at a number of  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Not just change

         12  orders, but a couple of things.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right,

         14  and everything from design to scheduling to

         15  estimating and everything.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: When is their

         17  work going to be concluded?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It's

         19  ongoing and so they  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But there's a

         21  projected time frame for their consultation and

         22  their deliverables.  Right?  What would that be?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right.

         24  Well they've given us a number of deliverables and I

         25  think they're going to be wrapped up the end of this
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          2  year in terms of all of their recommendations.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So there's truly

          4  a finite process here.  When they were brought on,

          5  one of their deliverables is it to create kind of so

          6  to speak a new world order on how these change

          7  orders are going to be.  What is the target in terms

          8  of the time that will be needed when things are

          9  fixed versus the year plus time that's still in

         10  place for processing these?  What's our goal?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I can't

         12  give you a specific reduced time right now, Mr.

         13  Chair, because we're still looking at how to

         14  compress the various components of this.  I would be

         15  happy to come back and give you a more precise

         16  expected reduced time for this, but some of these

         17  are still in the works and  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, but let me

         19  get to one of those issues.  Is it the case that in

         20  order to do what you have to do to process a change

         21  order it involves people.  You need people to do the

         22  negotiating.  You need people to sort of scope it

         23  out, people to check it out or whatever.  So that's

         24   --  you need  --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Well
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          2  that's part of it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What I'm saying

          4  is that if we were to  --  I guess this is probably

          5  what gave rise to the need to this consultant on

          6  board, but if one were to quantify the cost of

          7  change orders being processed over the course of

          8  more than a year --  The time it takes  --  The

          9  money that we lose in processing change orders so

         10  slowly, there's a dollar number that we could assign

         11  to that lag, and if you were to figure out what that

         12  number was versus what it would take to fix that by

         13  bringing on more staff, or more financial people, or

         14  more engineers, or whatever it is, we might be in a

         15  laughable situation that we're saving in heads, and

         16  manpower, and in DEP resources, but we're losing ten

         17  times that because it's taking us so long to process

         18  these things. Then the contractors build this in,

         19  and it's kind of like a penny wise, pound foolish

         20  kind of thing.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right.

         22  The first step, of course, is to understand the

         23  process, and then the next step, as you rightly

         24  pointed out, is for those parts of the process that

         25  are dependant on labor to work through the process.
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          2  Is more staff needed?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Which brings us

          4  to the budget process.  Here we are.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: If the

          6  answer to that is yes, then, as you said, fixing

          7  this problem we can greatly accelerate the change

          8  order processing, it will be worth the money that we

          9  spent on additional resources to process.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: There

         12  are some parts of the process that may not be

         13  dependant on labor, and may not be within DEP.  For

         14  example, registering change orders, which is  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Who does that?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Well

         17  that's the controller.  So it's 30 days out of this

         18  which is a relatively small percentage of a more

         19  than one year duration, but it's still one piece of

         20  it that is beyond our control.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, but

         22  ultimately within the control of the City of New

         23  York, and this Committee and this Council is trying

         24  to figure out ways that through the budget process

         25  whether it's more heads or whatever it takes to get
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          2  this to move quicker.  And if we save money in the

          3  long run, that's something that we would like to do.

          4    Are there any new needs in the budget that have

          5  been put forward that speak to moving these change

          6  orders more quickly.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes.  In

          8  part, we have within  --  I am unable to quantify it

          9  here, and, again, we have to resolve this in concert

         10  with OMB.  This would effect the Capital Budget, but

         11  to the extent that we've identified a need for

         12  staffing in our Capital Program Management area part

         13  of which would be used to accelerate this process

         14  that is in discussions and will be reflected in our

         15  Executive Budget.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Good.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: There

         18  are also, Mr. Chair,  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I just want to

         20  say on the record that we're going to be revisiting

         21  this whole issue in the next round of hearings on

         22  the Exec Budget.  I went there.  These guys are all

         23  over me about change orders and I'm the Chairman of

         24  the Committee, and I've got to do something and what

         25  are you doing, and so I'm trying to fulfill my
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          2  commitment to these guys that I'm going to look into

          3  this.  If it's more heads, if it's this, if it's

          4  whatever it is  --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right,

          6  and some of this, as I said, is not staff related so

          7  much as changing some of our contractual provisions,

          8  which we've already begun to do, and that's already

          9  been reflected in some of our more recently awarded

         10  contracts, which just be changing the provisions in

         11  the contract, we're able to resolve a lot of change

         12  order issues more quickly. It's something that we

         13  just began in the last several months.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Now, not

         15  to belabor it because I do have to move on, and I

         16  know that Council Member Deblasio has a question

         17  related to the Capital Budget, but what are they

         18  doing at School Construction Authority, and other

         19  areas of City government like the Transit Authority,

         20  which is not quite City but you get the idea.

         21  They're doing capital construction.  They run into

         22  this.  They are doing things that have made things

         23  better for them.  Is that what you're talking about?

         24    That we're going to adopt things that are similar

         25  to what they are doing.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right.

          3  We will never be completely like the School

          4  Construction Authority because, as I mentioned

          5  earlier, the School Construction Authority does not

          6  have to register it's contracts or it's change

          7  orders with the Controller.  So all other things

          8  being equal, 30 days is kind of the process.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, I'm going

         10  to give you the 30 days.  I'm giving it to you.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I'll

         12  take it.

         13                 The School Construction Authority

         14  also, over the last three years, had looked at, and

         15  had implemented, improvements in enabling managers

         16  at certain levels to authorize change orders up to

         17  certain dollar levels depending on if you're like a

         18  frontline project manager, if you're a supervisor,

         19  if you're a director. Having that ability to

         20  negotiate small dollar changes out in the field was

         21  effective for School Construction Authority.  That's

         22  one thing we could look at as well.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please, please,

         24  but I do have to move on.  I will direct staff that

         25  with regard to the response that the Council will
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          2  formerly do to the Preliminary Budget, we should do

          3  like a change order thing in there so that this

          4  issue gets put into the Council's response to the

          5  budget.

          6                 With that, I'm going to recognize

          7  Council Member DeBlasio for questions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Thank you

          9  very much, Mr. Chairman,  and Deputy Commissioner,

         10  it's always good to see you.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Good to

         12  see you, Council Member.  My Council Member.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: It's doubly

         14  good always to see a constituent which is a perfect

         15  segway to my question.  I just want to first state

         16  to the Chairman how strongly and passionately I

         17  oppose these colleagues who to these hearings on

         18  important matters and ask very narrow questions

         19  about their district.  It's an abhorrent process and

         20  now I'm going to engage in it.  I just want to ask

         21   --  Because so many of the larger issues are in the

         22  able hands of the Chairman, I do want to ask a more

         23  narrow question.

         24                 The Gowanus Canal  --  I think at

         25  various time over the capital hearings over the
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          2  years there's been different projections about where

          3  further work on the infrastructure of the canal

          4  would go in terms of a timeline.  I think

          5  Commissioner Lloyd has been very focused and I

          6  appreciate that.  In fact, we do look forward to

          7  having her come down and do a tour with us at some

          8  point soon, but in the meantime my understanding was

          9  the last time we spoke it was in FY '10 and now it's

         10  been moved to FY '08 i.e. This coming up fiscal

         11  year.  Is that accurate?

         12                 Well I was 50 percent accurate.  How

         13  about that?

         14                 Mr. Chairman, I would like you to

         15  note that I was ahead of the DEP representatives in

         16  terms of knowing their Capital Budget.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, I just  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: You're not

         19  the only one on top of the details.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: So

         21  noted, Council Member.  I'm told that it is FY '08,

         22  this very next year.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: That's

         24  wonderful and very much appreciated.  Let me make a

         25  statement and ask a quick follow up question.
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          2                 Obviously you're aware of potentially

          3  huge amount of development that could occur.  Now we

          4  in the community are concerned that that development

          5  be balanced and not be to huge, obviously, and that

          6  other goals be achieved such as affordable housing,

          7  but all that being said, there is going to be a lot

          8  of activity in that area, and potentially a

          9  significant number of new housing units.  There is

         10  concern about the ability of the surrounding sewer

         11  system to handle that.  There is concern about

         12  impact that might have on the Gowanus Canal, and

         13  very obvious concern with all this positive economic

         14  activity, and housing activity, that is occurring in

         15  the Canal is not being kept clean that that could

         16  have a negative effect on people's willingness to

         17  come to the area.  So it's crucial for me to

         18  understand what your plan is and how long it's going

         19  to take for it all to be completed for the Gowanus

         20  Canal.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: In terms

         22  of the completion date on that, I will have to get

         23  back to you on that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Okay.  Can

         25  you just describe in very simple few sentences what
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          2  the current plan is to actually do there?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I will

          4  have someone.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Somewhere in

          6  the bullpen they have a  --  Bring in the left-

          7  hander.  This is going to be the guy who only

          8  pitches to one batter and then leaves.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ:

         10  Essentially, we're doing a few things in the Gowanus

         11  Canal  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Al, if you could

         13  just state your name for the record.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: I'm sorry.

         15    My name is Al Lopez.  I'm Deputy Commissioner,

         16  Bureau of Engineering Design and Construction.

         17  Councilman, essentially, we're doing a couple of

         18  things.  One of which is  --  and I'll clear right

         19  up front there are two Gowanus Pumping Stations.

         20  There is one that creates a flushing action of the

         21  Gowanus Canal, and there is also a Gowanus Pumping

         22  Station that basically conveys the sewage or the

         23  combined sewage from that area, that drainage area,

         24  to the treatment plant.

         25                 We are working on both projects.
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          2  Associated to that there is force main that is

          3  associated to the pumping station. We're working on

          4  both pumping stations and the force main, as was

          5  mentioned before.  Some of that is in FY '08 budget.

          6    Essentially, the pumping station that will convey

          7  sewage to the treatment plant will be upgraded in

          8  size, and it will be a significant increase in it's

          9  capacity, and, essentially, what that will do is

         10  take the drainage from that area and bring it to the

         11  treatment plant and cutoff some of the CSO that is

         12  otherwise going into the Gowanus Canal at this time.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: And someone

         14  will be able to get back to me on the duration of

         15  those two projects?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: I'll get

         17  back to you on the projects.  It's actually three

         18  projects.  It's the force main and the two pumping

         19  stations.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: All right.

         21  That would be great.  Now that was the warm up

         22  question.  Here comes the more controversial

         23  question.  We're going to move a little bit farther

         24  into Brooklyn.  So, as you may know, a tremendous

         25  concern around the Atlantic Yards project has been
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          2  the impact on infrastructure, and although I am a

          3  supporter of the project with certain obvious

          4  concerns and reservations and qualifications, I can

          5  say as a supporter, I was a little disappointed when

          6  the Environmental Impact Statement came out  --

          7  that's obviously done by the development firm  --

          8  that a lot of the discussion infrastructure was very

          9  limited and left the community very concerned.  I'm

         10  not just talking about DEP considerations; fire,

         11  police, you name it. Can you give us any sense of

         12  what you have been doing to plan for the eventual

         13  build- out of the Atlantic Yards project over what

         14  could be ten or 15 years easily and what impact you

         15  think it would have on the overall sewer and water

         16  system?

         17                 And, lastly, is there a possibility

         18  that it could have a negative impact all the way

         19  down on the Gowanus Canal?  That's one of the things

         20  some of the local activists have raised.  That if

         21  the system was having capacity problems that it

         22  could end up having impact on the Gowanus Canal.

         23                 Mr. Chairman, I just wanted to inject

         24  a little controversy into the proceedings.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Go for it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: I hope you

          3  don't mind.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: You should have

          5  been here earlier.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: It was good?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It was great.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: The

          9  pumping upgrade that Deputy Commissioner Lopez

         10  referred to earlier which will convey the sewage

         11  from the Red Hook Sewage Treatment Plant drainage

         12  area which includes the Atlantic Yards Development

         13  area, is being upgraded as he said, and we'll get

         14  you the construction end date on that.

         15                 In terms of the more local water and

         16  sewer infrastructure to support Atlantic Yards that

         17  that is also accounted for in the plan.  We have

         18  been reviewing with the developer their designs for

         19  such mitigation items as storm water retention

         20  within their property, which they've developed a

         21  pretty good plan for.  So that when there's a storm

         22  within the Atlantic Yards area that a lot of the

         23  storm water is captured and then slowly released in

         24  to the sewer system to minimize the Combined Sewer

         25  Overflows that result from the project area.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Okay.  So

          3  you've answered one question.  You are planning

          4  together.

          5                 Now, in terms of your budget process

          6  though, have you started to add into the Capital

          7  Budget any items to reflect what I assume could be a

          8  substantial impact?

          9                 We're talking about 6,000 units of

         10  new housing, if I've got my facts right?  Is that

         11  already being reflected in your Capital Budget?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right,

         13  and the developer  --  In terms of conveying water

         14  to the project area, and conveying sewage away from

         15  it, and ultimately to the treatment plant, but

         16  within the immediate development area, it's the

         17  developer who pays for the infrastructure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Do they

         19  actually  --  And, again, this is my ignorance.  I

         20  apologize.  Do they do all the  -- Do they hire

         21  contractors to do all that work or does any of that

         22  have to be done by definition by DEP?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: They

         24  hire contractors to do it, but the plans have to be

         25  approved by us, certainly, the drainage plan and the

                                                            121

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  connections for drinking water.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: So this is

          4  like a very large version of the homeowner who has

          5  to make sure that the pipe they have going from

          6  their home out to the main on the street is working,

          7  but once they get to the main, it's DEP's

          8  responsibility. Is that correct?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: That's

         10  right.  Within the development area, it's their

         11  responsibility, and it's our responsibility to get

         12  it to and from the development area.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: And your

         14  current capacity does not need to be upgraded in the

         15  infrastructure that you own and control.  Your

         16  current capacity is not being increased or modified

         17  in any way to handle that much additional  --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Other

         19  than what we spoke of earlier in terms of increasing

         20  the capacity of the Gowanus Pumping Station and the

         21  force main to convey the sewage the remaining

         22  distance to the Red Hook Treatment Plant, which is

         23  actually in the Brooklyn Navy Yard.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Okay, and

         25  that, again, that begs the timing question
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          2  previously because that would mean that all that

          3  would have to be in place before any substantial

          4  development actually was in place at Atlantic Yards.

          5    Correct?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Correct.

          7    Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Again, I'm

          9  going to take just one quick step back, and I'll be

         10  very quick because I know the Chairman has a lot to

         11  cover.

         12                 You don't have a firm answer on the

         13  previous questions about Gowanus, but just ball

         14  park.  Is this a few years? Is this more than a few

         15  years?  I'm just trying to understand how it

         16  correlates to the Atlantic Yards timeline.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I don't

         18  know.  We'll really have to get back to you on that.

         19    I'm sorry.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Okay.  Would

         21  you like me to ask it a different way?  Then the

         22  last question I have is   -- And, again, I'm trying

         23  to respect the concerns of local activists and

         24  involved citizens who may or may not be experts on

         25  matters that you're experts on.  It's my job to
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          2  raise their concerns and understand how much might

          3  be true.  So there is a concern that the additional

          4  burden created by Atlantic Yards could have a

          5  negative impact on the Gowanus Canal.  Now you're

          6  saying there are specific steps being taken.  Do you

          7  believe that's enough?  Do you believe that if you

          8  do complete these three projects around the Gowanus

          9  Canal that you can then safely say there's no

         10  negative environmental impact on the Canal from the

         11  existence of the Atlantic Yards?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes, we

         13  believe that the improvements that we outlined

         14  earlier are sufficient to support that project.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: And very

         16  finally on the same thing.  Can you give me the

         17  price tag on the three pieces around the Gowanus?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I'd have

         19  to get back to that also.  So we'll give you  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: Come on.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Had I

         22  know you were coming.  I'll have to get back to you

         23  on the dollars and the dates.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO: I really

         25  would appreciate that as soon as possible.  As you
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          2  know, there's a number of community meetings

          3  happening now on all of these issues, and it would

          4  be very helpful to be armed with the truth.  So

          5  thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          7  Thank you, Bill. Okay, now I'm going to help you a

          8  little bit.  The Hillview Reservoir and the ongoing

          9  saga of the cover.  This goes back many, many years

         10  into my days as a staff member for the Council.

         11  This is a question I always used to get Council

         12  Member John Sabini to ask. It was a little annual

         13  ritual.  He would ask about that.  I agree with

         14  DEP's posture which I think I'm accurately

         15  reflecting is that we do a good job keeping the

         16  water clean.  Why do we have to spend all this money

         17  to build this cover, and I know that is something

         18  you've been going back and forth with.  The

         19  appropriate regulator, whether it's the State of the

         20  Feds, I don't know, but what is the status of the

         21  cover, or the proposed cover, for the Hillview

         22  Reservoir?  What can I do to team up with DEP to

         23  help you make your case that this is something that

         24  we shouldn't have to do and shouldn't have to spend

         25  the money on?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: We

          3  certainly appreciate your offer to help, Mr. Chair.

          4  We have in the Capital Plan design funds for the

          5  Hillview Cover Project because we agree with what

          6  you stated that we don't believe that the cover is

          7  necessary to maintain the quality of the drinking

          8  water and that our current estimate for the

          9  construction of the cover would be approaching $1

         10  billion dollars, but that we have put design funds

         11  in this Ten- Year Plan to progress the design in

         12  case someday we have to build it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  What is

         14  the regulator that's making us do this?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It is

         16  the  --  Thank you.  I would like to call on our

         17  General Counsel, Mark Hoffer.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Okay.

         19  Mark, you know what just state your name for the

         20  record and proceed.

         21                 MR. HOFFER: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Where are we

         23  Mark on this whole thing?

         24                 MR. HOFFER: Okay where we are is

         25  basically this. Take a half step back.  The
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          2  requirement for a cover originated in an order that

          3  we negotiated with the State Department of Health

          4  over ten years ago, back around 1994 because, as you

          5  recall Mr. Chairman, we had a series of elevated

          6  fecal coliform events  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, the birds

          8  and the whole thing.

          9                 MR. HOFFER:  --  Subsequently

         10  determined that is was due to water fowl roosting on

         11  the reservoir.  I note that we have not had a

         12  recurrence of those incidents since which I think is

         13  proof positive that the water fowl program at the

         14  reservoir works and is working.

         15                 That having been said there is a new

         16  Federal regulation on the books which took effect

         17  I'm going to say roughly a year plus or so ago

         18  called the Long- Term to Enhance Surface Water

         19  Treatment Rule.  That regulation requires uncovered

         20  finished water storage reservoirs of which Hillview

         21  is one to either be covered, or for treatment to be

         22  provided, downstream of the reservoir. Treatment

         23  doesn't work for us.  There simply isn't room.

         24  Water goes from Hillview virtually right into the

         25  distribution grid.  We had urged EPA to provide for
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          2  a third alternative in the rule, basically a Best

          3  Management Practices Plan at the reservoir.  Indeed

          4  that was in the final draft of the rule. Somewhere

          5  between the final draft and the final rule itself

          6  has promulgated it disappeared.

          7                 So what we've done is this.  Because

          8  we have not yet commenced construction of a cover

          9  and have thus not adhered to milestones in the

         10  original State Health Department order as it's been

         11  amended over time, we are in the process of

         12  negotiating a new order with State Health that

         13  allows for a more liberal time schedule and also

         14  allows us to deliver a study to State Health before

         15  we put a shovel in the ground, analyzing could we

         16  live with only half of Hillview and thus only need

         17  to cover half of it. Could we live without Hillview

         18  at all or without Hillview in certain circumstances

         19  and perhaps thus avoid the need for a cover? Could

         20  we utilize the possibility of a Kensico City tunnel,

         21  which I know is a topic you've heard before, as a

         22  substitute in some respect for Hillview and thus

         23  avoid a need for a cover?  We're pursuing a couple

         24  of different tracks because, as you correctly noted,

         25  we as the operating agency continue to believe that
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          2  throwing $800 million to $1 billion dollars at a

          3  reservoir cover at Hillview is not the wisest use of

          4  public funds.  So we're working out this order to

          5  give ourselves more time and an opportunity to

          6  analyze the issue more deeply.  We have also joined

          7  in a lawsuit brought by the City of Portland, Oregon

          8  challenging that aspect of the Federal rule

          9  principally because Hillview is not like the other

         10  reservoirs that EPA studied.  As it's name implies,

         11  it's located on a hill. It is not subject to the

         12  threat of runoff, for example, because it's a

         13  elevated on a hill.  And lastly, although I would

         14  not hold out tremendous hope of this, we are looking

         15  at and possibly going to pull together the papers

         16  for a variance application from that Federal rule

         17  which I cited.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Is there a

         19  procedure for that? Is there a procedure  --

         20                 MR. HOFFER: There is.  I don't know

         21  all of the mechanics, but there are procedures for

         22   --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: For this rule

         24  specifically, or generally if you want to opt out?

         25                 MR. HOFFER: I think it's general.  I
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          2  think it's general as far as Safe Drinking Act Water

          3  Rules go.  We have been told by the State regulator

          4  that the prospects of a variance are very, very

          5  slim.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Who would grant

          7  that?  Would the State be the agent of the Feds in

          8  that or you just appear directly to the Feds?

          9                 MR. HOFFER: I'm not completely clear.

         10    I'll need to get back to you on that, but we're

         11  pursuing all of these tracks in parallel to see if

         12  there's a way we can legally move away from a

         13  requirement to cover and apply those dollars to

         14  something more productive.  One is the revised

         15  order.  Two is the lawsuit.  Three is the

         16  possibility of a variance, and we're actively

         17  exploring all three.  The lawsuit, I can tell you,

         18  we're already in.  We're already an intervening

         19  party, and we filed papers.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Well, certainly,

         21  if there is anyway that I, as Chairman, or the

         22  Council as a body, can intervene and call upon our

         23  Federal representatives to  --

         24                 MR. HOFFER: We appreciate that, and,

         25  certainly, if we can figure out a way to work
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          2  together on this, since I think our views are

          3  similar, I think it would be a great thing to do.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure because

          5  I'll give you one guess where I'd rather see that

          6  money spent, but that's okay.  You know, certainly,

          7  that would be  --  Also if it comes to pass,

          8  although I don't want to admit defeat or whatever,

          9  but its my understanding that other jurisdictions

         10  that have done cover and have been faced with this

         11  kind of thing have used polymer covers, floating

         12  covers, vinyl, all kinds of things.  Of course we

         13  engineer our infrastructure for the ages, and many,

         14  many years ago, in the early '90's, the estimate

         15  that DEP wanted to do cover, they had the reflecting

         16  pool, the whole thing and it was $45 to $50 dollars

         17  per square foot whatever it was, but the polymer

         18  covers at the time were like $4 or $5 dollars per

         19  square foot.  So there was big difference between

         20  what we were proposing and what other jurisdictions

         21  are figuring out to get by and meet the standard but

         22  not spend lots and lots of money, and I am wondering

         23  if whether or not in the design money that we've put

         24  forward is there any attention being given to the

         25  less expensive options that other jurisdictions have
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          2  done just to meet the letter  --  meeting the

          3  standard, but not engineered this to such and extent

          4  that it gets into the $800 million or $1 billion

          5  dollar price range?  Al, how are we doing on that?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: Let me try

          7  to answer the question.  It's a good point.  I mean

          8  there are other municipalities that have either

          9  floating covers or they have polymer covers.  In

         10  both those cases, you need a support structure. I

         11  won't get into the engineering.  You need a support

         12  structure that would basically span the reservoir

         13  itself.  Our reservoir basically  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: It doesn't just

         15  float or whatever?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: No, not

         17  really.  It won't just float.  It has to have a

         18  support structure to allow the polymer fabric to

         19  float on it.  The bottom line is the size of the

         20  reservoir, and even if you took the two halves, the

         21  east and the west half, and looked at them

         22  independently as two separate covers it's still

         23  many, many the times the size of the largest

         24  standard cover that's been built.

         25                 Oh, I see.  Okay.
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          2                 To answer your question though, we

          3  originally evaluated this in 1997, and came to the

          4  conclusion that we should use a substantial

          5  structure made of concrete.  In anticipation of the

          6  order that Mark was speaking about before, we set

          7  aside some monies to re- look at the evaluation.

          8  Obviously looking at that that study was ten years

          9  old, and, in fact, over the last  --  Well we

         10  completed the study this past December so about a

         11  three or four month period of time we re- looked at

         12  what had been done in the past.  We brought it up-

         13  to- date, and, indeed, we found that we really can't

         14  build anything that size that would be either a

         15  polymer or a floating cover.  The size is just too

         16  large.  So we are approaching this with what ends up

         17  being a billion dollar solution, concrete cover with

         18  a support structure underneath that will hold the

         19  concrete up.  Unfortunately, or fortunately, we look

         20  at the size of New York and the size of the

         21  reservoir that serves it so we have to pay that

         22  price.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, and so now

         24  you've just convinced me that we're definitely not

         25  doing the cover.  So just tell me what I have to do
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          2  to help you out, and I'm happy to help. I don't mean

          3  to be flip, of course, but if we can  --  We have

          4  senators.  We have representatives in Congress.

          5  Let's see what we can make happen.  A billion

          6  dollars is a lot of money, and if you really needed

          7  to spend the money, fine.  We don't so what are we

          8  doing?  I'm here to help on that and so I see eye-

          9  to- eye with the Department and I guess we'll just

         10  leave it at that.  Thank you. Thank you for that.

         11                 Changing tracks now.  In your written

         12  statement there was a mention of PlaNYC and how the

         13  budget that being put forward reflects the

         14  priorities or whatever of PlaNYC.  What is in the

         15  plan that otherwise wouldn't be in there but for the

         16  PlaNYC initiative, briefly?  Or is it the case that

         17  PlaNYC aren't reflected at all in the plan?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: A lot of

         19  what is in our Capital Plan that does support PlaNYC

         20    --  A lot of it is projects that we have been

         21  planning; dependability, for example, of continuous

         22  uninterrupted water supply, CSO reduction in order

         23  to harbor quality and open more of the waterways to

         24  recreation.  So these are things that we've been

         25  working on and they are integral parts of the Long-
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          2  Term Sustainability Plan.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.  Okay.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: And most

          5  of these we discussed in detail earlier.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: With regard to

          7  the PlaNYC, which I call Plan NYC,  but the Mayor's

          8  people call it PlaNYC, whatever.  Have any of the

          9  schedules for any of those initiatives changed, been

         10  expedited by virtue of the Sustainability Initiative

         11  that you know of?  I'm trying to measure the PlaNYC

         12  impact on the budget.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right.

         14  I don't recall right now because, as I said earlier,

         15  as this ten- year planning process evolved a lot of

         16  things were changing.  I could get back to you on

         17  that, but I can't answer that right now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.  Thank

         19  you.  I just have some final questions with regard

         20  to expense.  Just following up on what Council

         21  Member Koppell had talked about with regard to

         22  customer service.  If you could please update the

         23  Committee on the number of full- time and per diem

         24  DEP Customer Call Center personnel.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I would
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          2  like to call back Joe Singleton to answer that

          3  question.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: Good

          5  afternoon, Council Member.  Quickly, there's 37

          6  full- time individuals in the call center.  There

          7  are 12 part- time individuals in the call center,

          8  and there are ten inspectors that deploy and

          9  response issues that come out of the call center on

         10  a day- to- day basis or even that day.

         11                 Additionally, we rotate about 16

         12  individuals from other groups in the Department for

         13  peak day.  For instance, Tuesday's after a Monday

         14  holiday, we know the call volume is going to be 50

         15  percent higher than it normally would be.  We'll

         16  schedule anywhere from five to ten additional folks

         17  into that call center.

         18                 The PS allocation is about $2.4

         19  billion dollars for the call center.  The OTPS is

         20  just mixed with the bureau's OTPS.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: $2.4 million.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: $2.4

         23  million in PS costs.  That has worked very well for

         24  us.  Our call response times are well within

         25  industry standards now.  We can get into a lot more
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          2  detail.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What is that?

          4  What is the  --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: Well

          6  obviously you want to answer every call within 30

          7  seconds after it goes through the initial voice

          8  prompts.  We're well within that.  Our dropped call

          9  rate is negligible.  It's less than one percent.  So

         10  I'm very pleased.  The union members have been

         11  giving me a great deal of support in bringing that

         12  about.  I think we're where we want to be in the

         13  call center as far as our response times.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And that's

         15  great.  We, certainly, salute your efforts in that

         16  regard and what you've been able to do with that

         17  whole operation.  The good things you've been able

         18  to do there are legend as we say.  So that's great.

         19                 Last time we had a hearing on this,

         20  there was still some outstanding un- hired

         21  positions.  How are we doing on that?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: We've

         23  made a lot of progress.  We've come up from about

         24  496 when we spoke last to about 511 on the full-

         25  time side, bureau- wide.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Leaving how many

          3  un- hired and how many empty slots?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: It

          5  leaves about 23 vacancies right now.  Most of those

          6   --  about nine of those are IT positions that are

          7  being converted from a contractual basis, IBM OTPS.

          8  We're in the process of hiring about nine tech folks

          9  to support those.  So we made pretty good progress

         10  there.

         11                 On the part- timers, we've put on 43

         12  additional part timers since November.  So we've

         13  gone up to about 118 in about three months.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now these part-

         15  timers and everyone that has been brought on, these

         16  were slots that were pre existing right?  They were

         17  already  --

         18                      DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         19  No, they weren't.  A lot of the  --  The part- time

         20  level now is the highest it's ever been.  In other

         21  words, as long as I'm not exceeding my budget

         22  allocation on unit appropriation basis, the

         23  Commissioner has allowed me to, basically, spend

         24  other PS surpluses in the Department.  By that I

         25  mean there is no authorized part- time head count as
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          2  long as it's not causing any budget problem, and I

          3  have the space to bring those heads on, that's what

          4  we've been doing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.  Right.

          6  Okay.  Now going forward in FY '08 I know that the

          7  Commissioner at one of her earlier hearings, I had

          8  indicated to her during the last budget process

          9  that, and excuse my language, that she should be

         10  good to herself and hire what she needs for her

         11  bureau.  That wasn't the case during the last budget

         12  process, but are there new needs identified for your

         13    --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: There

         15  are, and the most  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm sorry.  What

         17  was that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: Yes,

         19  there are new needs.  There are new needs that we

         20  would be raising.  I'll speak to what I think is the

         21  most critical one which is what I call a Hard to

         22  Access Contract.  Con Ed is currently getting about

         23  85 percent on our reads.  Contractually, they are

         24  obligated to 90. There are both incentives and

         25  penalties.  There is a population of accounts that
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          2  are high- estimating for a number of reasons; access

          3  issues, denial of access; things of that nature;

          4  poor meter set ups; poor locations.  What we are

          5  planning to do, and we should be out to bid towards

          6  the April, is to bid a Hard- to- Access contract

          7  where we are going to pay someone a premium to go

          8  out and document those field conditions, get us a

          9  read, and bring that data back to us.  We get two

         10  benefits from that.  Obviously, our read rate goes

         11  up now.  It takes some of the issues off the table

         12  with Con Ed, and it also gives us a basis when we go

         13  City- wide with AMR.  We will have mapped out the

         14  difficult to access accounts City- wide and perhaps

         15  they have to get a separate treatment from your more

         16  normal access issues.  And that's going to be about

         17  $5 million dollar per year contract.

         18                 As far as head count, most of it I

         19  can continue to do using part- time head count.  So

         20  I don't know that the full- time head count will

         21  change.  There will be a request for additional PS

         22  resources for the efforts that I have just outlined.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         24  Although there have been a lot of reports in the

         25  media of people having these bills with huge numbers
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          2  of hundreds of thousands of dollars, and I know

          3  you've taken efforts to look at that and you're

          4  working on that. How about the reverse of that which

          5  would be people under- billed to the point of

          6  perhaps no bill.  For example, you have buildings

          7  that have service but have no accounts.  I was

          8  wondering how often this is something you find and

          9  what is the methodology that's being employed to

         10  find people who have service but no accounts.  How

         11  does that work?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: Sure.

         13  The methodology that we spoke to previously was a

         14  match against Finance's Real Property Assessment

         15  Database, and what we've done is go by the block and

         16  lot basis.  It's common to our accounts and common

         17  to their assessment, and we've got a series of about

         18  10,000 residential accounts and 7,500 commercial

         19  accounts that we are reviewing.  We've already

         20  billed, I don't know the exact number of accounts,

         21  but in excess of $1 million dollars with four- year

         22  back bills on people that had service, but were not

         23  in our billing system.  That effort is continuing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: What kind of

         25  buildings fall into that category?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: It

          3  runs the gamut. It could be a block and lot was

          4  subdivided, a new building went up, a major

          5  teardown, an old building that never made it into

          6  our system.  It really runs the gamut.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right and so

          8  when we do the back bill on that, you start up

          9  metering and you really have no way of figuring out

         10  what their use was.  How is that  --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: Not

         12  always the case. Sometimes a plumber has lifted a

         13  permit for the meter.  The meter has not been

         14  installed and the plumber never returned the permit

         15  so we could establish the billing.  So often a meter

         16  is there but without a set date.  So that meter

         17  clock will be running and what we'll do is we'll

         18  take a period of consumption and go forward on that

         19  if necessary, but also if the set date was zero,

         20  we'll see right on the meter what that actual

         21  consumption was.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, I see.

         23  Okay.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: As far

         25  as certain buildings that do not have meters
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          2  present, they'll be surcharged and directly put a

          3  meter in.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And so the meter

          5  goes in and do you take the first quarter and then

          6  you multiply that back times four years to figure

          7  out their bill.  Can you do that?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: If we

          9  can get a meter set date.  That's the key.  When was

         10  the set date?  How long of a period am I covering.

         11  If I can get a definitive answer as to when that

         12  meter was set, we can do it that way.  If not, we'll

         13  have to go off the average  --  the ADF, and prorate

         14  it back like you've mentioned.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

         16                 We take the consumption for a period

         17  of time and establish that back bill based on that.

         18                 Right.  Is there a penalty by virtue

         19  of the fact that this person owned and operated a

         20  building presuming they knew that they were supposed

         21  to pay for water and just didn't get around to or

         22  whatever.  What's the  --

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         24  Clearly, I mean you're going towards an issue of

         25  theft of services.  We have not criminally gone
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          2  after somebody in that regard.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, but at

          4  least in terms of the penalty.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: As far

          6  as a penalty, there is a nine percent charge for

          7  that delinquency, a nine percent per annum charge on

          8  that delinquency.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.  So you

         10  find the person, you start the account, you go

         11  backwards four years compounding nine percent per

         12  year.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON:

         14  Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And how may

         16  buildings have you uncovered?  Just in nominal

         17  numbers whether they're big or small.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: It's

         19  in excess of 2,000 buildings.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: That

         22  we've determined, definitively, they should be being

         23  billed.  Sometimes the initial results will come

         24  back, a corner building sometimes. The service

         25  address in One, and we'll find that, in fact, it is
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          2  in our system because it's block and lot is listed

          3  differently.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But you've got

          5  2,000 bona fide instances of people with service but

          6  no account.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: At the

          8  end of the day, it will be in excess of 2,000.  I

          9  don't know the exact number we've worked through,

         10  but I know we've back billed in excess of $1 million

         11  dollars already.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right, and this

         13  is a process which is ongoing so there are more out

         14  there presumably.  Do we have any sense of what the

         15  universe of buildings with service but no accounts

         16  is?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: At the

         18  end of the day, it'll be under 5,000, but I don't

         19  want to give you an outside number.

         20                 What we're doing going forward is

         21  we're getting Certificate of Occupancy data from

         22  Department of Buildings so that we know we can now

         23  check  --  okay, a final CO was issued for that

         24  building.  Water service should be established.

         25  Going forward, I'd like to make that a more robust
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          2  process so that conceivably there could be some

          3  direct tie- in between getting a CO for a building

          4  and establishing the building in the system.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, what's that

          6  again?  Say that again.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SINGLETON: I

          8  would like, at some point, and we're going to meet

          9  with the Department of Buildings on this, to

         10  establish as part of the CO process to ensure that

         11  you have a billing set- up in my system.  Obviously,

         12  we don't want to slow down the building process, but

         13  we do want people to set- up their water bills, and

         14  we're going to have a discussion with the Department

         15  of Buildings as to what we can do.  Perhaps we put

         16  CIS terminal at Department of Buildings and have

         17  individuals set- up accounts right there when they

         18  come in for CO.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.  You

         20  just gave us an idea here so we appreciate that.

         21                 I just want to jump over to  --

         22  switching gears once again to watershed violations.

         23  According to the Preliminary Mayor's Management

         24  Report, the DEP issued 146 Notices of Violation and

         25  Notices of Warning in the watershed in FY 2006 as
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          2  compared to 191 such notices in FY 2005, and 210

          3  notices in Fiscal '03.  What is the reason for the

          4  largest decrease in notices issued in FY '06 as

          5  compared to FY '03?  The amount of summonses is

          6  going down and what the reason for that?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: It's

          8  difficult to draw comparisons from one year to next

          9  in terms of  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Do we have the

         11  watershed  -- Forgive me, but the person who took

         12  Mike's place.  Is he here?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Our new

         14  Deputy Commissioner Paul Rush is not here.  He had a

         15  prior commitment, work- related, upstate.

         16                 I was going to say that it's hard to

         17  make year- to year comparisons because a number of

         18  factors will influence how many violations we

         19  observe and issue Notice of Violation or Warnings

         20  for.  One possible reason for the decrease in 2006

         21  goes back to what we were talking about earlier is

         22  that as part of the FAD and part of the improvements

         23  we've made in the watershed in terms of acquiring

         24  land and doing a better job of posting that land,

         25  and improving our signage, that there are fewer
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          2  violations occurring in terms of things like

          3  trespass on our property.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: But I

          6  think we would have to track it over a longer period

          7  of time to be able to come up with some definitive

          8  trends.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  I just

         10  want to go on record as saying that that's an area

         11  of interest for the Committee because it is trending

         12  down over the last couple of years.  We don't want

         13  to characterize that as a bad thing.  We just want

         14  to characterize it as a phenomenon, and an area of

         15  interest for us.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS:

         17  Certainly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The second to

         19  last question. We're getting very, very close.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Promise?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We'll see.  With

         22  regard to inspectors, the Council passed a number of

         23  bills in 2003 and 2005, Local Law 77 of 2003, and

         24  Local Law 3940,- 41, and- 42 of 2005, to reduce

         25  harmful diesel emissions from a variety of vehicles
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          2  including the City's own vehicles, school buses,

          3  sight- seeing buses, and vehicles that handle

          4  transport or dispose of the City's solid waste and

          5  recyclable materials and there are just a couple of

          6  questions relating to that little narrative that I

          7  just read.

          8                 The first is how many employees does

          9  the DEP currently have on staff to make sure that

         10  these laws are effectively implemented and enforced?

         11    The Air Bills.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Right.

         13  We have, in terms of air and noise inspectors?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We're asking

         15  specifically by way of follow- up to the local laws

         16  we did in 2003 and 2005, and it's a series of five

         17  bills I guess that we want to see the resources that

         18  DEP is bringing to bear to implement and enforce

         19  these laws.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: We have

         21  a budget for 50 air and noise inspectors.

         22  Currently, we have 46 of those filled.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Is there a

         24  breakdown between air inspectors and noise

         25  inspectors, or are they both?

                                                            149

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: No,

          3  they're both. They go where the work is and where

          4  the complaints are.  In addition to that we have 18

          5  inspectors responsible for the Asbestos Program.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          7  Additional 18?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Yes,

          9  additional beyond the 50.  As part of our Executive

         10  Budget discussions, we're looking at, of course, the

         11  new noise regulations that are due to take effect

         12  July 1st, and seeing if the current air and noise

         13  inspection staff will be sufficient to enforce the

         14  new noise code or whether we'll need additional

         15  resources, but that will be reflected in our

         16  Executive Operating Budget submission.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see.  With

         18  regard to new needs, are there plans for new air

         19  inspectors as well?

         20                 This is the analysis we're going

         21  through now.  It's understanding the provisions of

         22  the new noise code and looking at the current

         23  workload, the current staff, and, again, determining

         24  for the release of the Executive Operating Budget

         25  whether or not we need additional resources.

                                                            150

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          3  We're just kind of wondering and certainly you're

          4  prepping for the noise codes.  It's a big deal.

          5  It's huge, but we're wondering if there is a similar

          6  or there was a similar assessment that was made

          7  regarding resources for this host of five bills that

          8  were passed between 2003 and 2005 for that.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I'd like

         10  to ask Deputy Commissioner Bob Avaltroni to address

         11  that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.

         13  Absolutely.  Bob, a pleasure to see you.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Hi.

         15  Bob Avaltroni, Deputy Commissioner, Environmental

         16  Compliance.  What we've done is, using the full

         17  compliment of people we've had, we've designated

         18  seven people that are part of that 50 that

         19  Commissioner Lawitts eluded to to actually undertake

         20  the responsibilities affiliated with the four bills

         21  that you mentioned.

         22                 Also we've make progress working with

         23  your staff, obviously, to move those bills and make

         24  them a reality with respect to putting ourselves in

         25  a position to enforce Local Law 77.  We're on the
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          2  precipice of doing that, and also we're looking to,

          3  as I said, Local Law 39, 41, we're at certain

          4  intervals where we will be meeting the timeframes

          5  that we had anticipated.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Regarding the

          7  rule- making for those bills, right?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Well,

          9  actually it's more than rule- making.  We have Local

         10  Law 77.  We have Local Law 39 which goes into City

         11  vehicles.  We have a target date, obviously, to do

         12  seven percent of the vehicles by I believe this

         13  Fiscal Year, and we'll continue on that path out.

         14  Local Law 41 which is the sight- seeing buses.  We

         15  have the Consumer Affairs Department poised to take

         16  the lead in that regard, and our first report will

         17  be coming out in January of '08.  Local Law 42,

         18  which deals with school buses, we have the contracts

         19  in compliance with what their needs are, and we have

         20  50 percent of the school bus population adjusted to

         21  use the best available technology, low- sulfur fuel.

         22  From September, we have 50 percent of that fleet and

         23  next September we will have the remaining 50 percent

         24  complete.

         25                 So we've made progress.  So this is
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          2  more than just in the rule- making stage.  We've

          3  made significant progress.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          5  Thank you, Bob.  I appreciate that.  Last subject

          6  area which would be Jamaica Bay.             I've

          7  got to mention that as a prelude to my question on

          8  Jamaica Bay which of course  --  It was a Local Law

          9  that we did to do the watershed plan for Jamaica Bay

         10  and there was clearly disappointment on the part of

         11  the Council that the draft plan that was put forward

         12  just two weeks ago that it's, by DEP's own

         13  admission, not a plan, and it doesn't meet the

         14  letter of the statute which called for a plan.  What

         15  it is it's a menu of options that are intended to

         16   --  that will someday be made into a draft plan and

         17  will someday be a final plan.  Again, this is a

         18  budget hearing, and not an oversight on that

         19  particular local law, but I couldn't mention a

         20  budget question, which I actually have, related to

         21  Jamaica Bay without sort of putting on the record

         22  the Council's disappointment that the draft plan,

         23  called for statutorily by the law, was not a plan

         24  and so I just have to register that disappointment

         25  and save that for future discussion when we're not
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          2  at a budget hearing.

          3                 Getting to the budget question which

          4  we actually have is how much money is set aside in

          5  DEP's budget for the Jamaica Bay Watershed

          6  Protection Plan required pursuant to Local Law 71 of

          7  2005?  Is there any money in DEP's Capital Budget

          8  regarding nitrogen removal in Jamaica Bay?  So a

          9  two- part question.  How much money is set aside in

         10  DEP's Expense Budget for the Jamaica Bay Watershed

         11  Protection Plan which ultimately will be a draft

         12  plan and ultimately a plan.  It's not now.  And is

         13  there any Capital money for nitrogen removal in

         14  Jamaica Bay?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Mr.

         16  Chair, we have a total in the January Plan across

         17  the ten- year period of $138 million for Jamaica

         18  Bay, and I would have to get back to you with a

         19  finer breakdown on that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And Capital

         21  monies for nitrogen removal for sewage upgrades.

         22  What's that for?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I

         24  believe it's mostly for CSO reduction, but I would

         25  have to get back to you with  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: That's Capital,

          3  right?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Al is going to

          6  speak to  --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: Here's a

          8  better answer.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LOPEZ: Now we

         10  have funding for upgrading Jamaica Bay Treatment

         11  Plant, and that's in 2012, and we've got about $100

         12  million dollars in there at this point.  It's going

         13  to go down.  It's $99 actually.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And with

         15  problematic monies with regard to the Jamaica Bay

         16  Watershed Protection Plan?  Expense Budget monies

         17  that would be associated either for developing the

         18  plan, implementing the plan, whatever.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I'll

         20  have to get back to you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay because

         22  we're already disappointed with the fact that what

         23  we have on the table is not a plan and we're just

         24  trying to minimize further disappointment that not

         25  only is there no plan, there's no money to make it
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          2  into a plan, or  --  We're frustrated here.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: We'll

          4  get back to you on the funding.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.  And

          6  with that said, my 4 o'clock meeting which is in the

          7  onus  --  Oh, no.  Pardon me. We have two more

          8  witnesses, but this panel  --  I just want to thank

          9  you Steve and all the folks from DEP who are here

         10  today. Thank you for all that you do each and every

         11  day.  We really appreciate the cooperation that we

         12  share and thank you.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: I

         14  certainly would like to thank all the DEP team who

         15  are here and thank you, Mr. Chair, for this hearing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure.  Okay.

         17  Thanks very much. We'll see you for the Exec.  I

         18  appreciate very much.  Thanks one and all.

         19                 Our last panel, Cathleen Breen of

         20  NYPIRG, a frequent- flyer at this Committee, and

         21  Daniel Simon of the Gaia Institute.  Swear them in.

         22  Get them going.

         23                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: I'll swear

         24  them in.  Do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

         25  the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 MS. BREEN: I do.

          3                 MR. SIMON: I do.

          4                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          6  Thanks for being here.  Cathleen, what do we got?

          7                 MS. BREEN: Thank you.  I don't have

          8  any prepared comments so don't be frightened by the

          9  pages in front of me, but I will be submitting this

         10  letter to you at some point.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I'm not afraid.

         12                 MS. BREEN: I just want to let you

         13  know that we really appreciate your holding this

         14  hearing and really appreciate the questions that

         15  both you, as Chairperson of this Committee, and

         16  Speaker Quinn had of DEP especially, as you know, it

         17  relates to New York City's Watershed Protection

         18  Program and really I think hit on the critical

         19  issues with respect to the funding allocations for

         20  land acquisition and whether or not to keep it at

         21  pace with the last ten years, and whether or not

         22  there's sufficient funding to do that.  Just hit the

         23  nail on the head, and we really want to call that to

         24  your attention and thank you for that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. BREEN: This letter in front of

          3  me, which I'll submit to you, is from the Clean

          4  Drinking Water Coalition.  It's NYPIRG, and it's

          5  from the Catskill Center for Conservation

          6  Development and River Keeper.  We're the Clean

          7  Drinking Water Coalition, and, as you know, NYPIRG,

          8  of which I'm the Watershed Protection Coordinator

          9  of, has --  all of these three groups are

         10  signatories to the 1997 Watershed Memorandum

         11  Agreement which was referenced today in testimony

         12  and have long been involved in monitoring New York

         13  City DEP's compliance with both the Watershed

         14  Agreement and with the Filtration Avoidance

         15  Determination.

         16                 That being said I just want to remind

         17  you that as you probably know that next week US EPA

         18  will be releasing a draft FAD, or is slated to

         19  release the draft FAD that will be pretty much the

         20  compact that will be in place for the next five

         21  years. Unfortunately, the week of the 19th is the

         22  slated week that they are going to be releasing it.

         23  It's what their target date is.  We really believe

         24  that those land acquisition goals that were just

         25  brought out today, that were mentioned in many other
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          2  hearings that you've held, as well as many

          3  environmentalists such as ourselves, and others have

          4  pointed to, are not going to be in there.  It's not

          5  going to be the strong FAD that we need to protect

          6  the water supply.

          7                 The economic and public health

          8  consequences are great.  The economics alone with

          9  respect to what the impact the water rates will be

         10  was brought up today, and can be flushed out ever

         11  further with respect to what it would really cost

         12  your constituents, your children's constituents, and

         13  so on.  This is very long- term.  It is simply

         14  cheaper to protect the New York City Watershed and

         15  better to protect the New York City Watershed than

         16  to build a $10 billion dollar filtration plant with

         17  the billion dollar a year operating cost not to

         18  mention all the energy that would need to go into

         19  that, to pay for that, to run that, the taxes that

         20  would paid to Westchester County for that plant on

         21  the order of a million dollars or so.  Incredible

         22  amounts of money that would need to be expended to

         23  keep the plant up and running with no guarantee of

         24  public health.

         25                 So we just want to applaud you on
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          2  continuing on that watershed protection tract,

          3  remind you that the EPA FAD is slated to come out

          4  next week, and to urge you to weigh in with Regional

          5  Administrator, Allen Steinberg, to ask for these

          6  protective measures to be put in, and to not proceed

          7  on a timeline and the release of this draft FAD if

          8  in fact it doesn't contain the strong programs that

          9  everyone is advocating for.

         10                 I'll provide a copy of this to

         11  Counsel and that way you'll be able to see what it

         12  is that we specifically have asked EPA to do.  I

         13  think that there are many other issues that we

         14  really want to be able to respond to as well and

         15  we'll do so in writing, the CSO's, the Jamaica Plan

         16  as well as others, Newtown Creek, and we will submit

         17  further comments on that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         19  Cathleen.  I appreciate your being here and just

         20  such great advocacy that you provide, you and

         21  NYPIRG, and the members of your coalition.  Going

         22  back to the MOA days  --  MOU days  --  MOA days  --

         23                 MS. BREEN: It's the MOA and just for

         24  the record I know that I didn't introduce myself.

         25  As I mentioned, I'm the Watershed Protection

                                                            160

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  Coordinator for NYPIRG, but name is Cathleen Breen,

          3  just for the record.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, okay. I

          5  wasn't aware that you didn't state your name.  We're

          6  at such ease that we don't even notice that, but

          7  thank you.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate it,

          8  Cathleen.

          9                 And before the next witness begins

         10  his statement, I just want to consult with staff for

         11  a second.

         12                 Okay, we just had some housekeeping

         13  to take care of and Daniel Simon.  You've got the

         14  last word, Daniel.

         15                 MR. SIMON: Excellent.  Thank you for

         16  holding this hearing today.  I'm Daniel B. Simon,

         17  The Gaia Institute, Green Roof Coordinator, Low-

         18  Impact Development Analyst.  Earlier, DEP testimony

         19  and questioning by Council Member Melissa Mark-

         20  MARK-VIVERITO related to Best Management Practice

         21  component of Combined Sewer Overflow Mitigation.

         22  We're very happy to see DEP looking into BMP's

         23  moralistically.

         24                 Green Roofs were brought up as one

         25  BMP area that needs to be studied.  As I understand
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          2  it, DEP intends that Pace University Green Roof

          3  Project, which has seen multiple delays over the

          4  past few years, to be their pilot project for

          5  measuring storm water capture on a green roof.

          6                 I'm here to testify that it is not

          7  necessary to wait for the Pace project to reach

          8  completion to begin monitoring storm water capture

          9  capacity on green roofs in New York City.  At least

         10  a dozen green roofs already exist in various

         11  locations, in all five boroughs, from Battery Park

         12  City's The Solare and The Verdition to the Staten

         13  Island Ferry Terminal and to the Bronx overall

         14  Economic Development Council funded Bronx County

         15  Courthouse and St. Simon's School.  Also, just last

         16  week, Department of Parks and Recreation approved a

         17  green roof atop their five- borough maintenance

         18  facility on Randall's Island on the fast track to be

         19  installed this spring.

         20                 Each of these green roofs has been

         21  designed for storm water capture and can be easily

         22  fitted with standard equipment to log and report the

         23  necessary data at a nominal cost. If DEP found room

         24  in their budget to install, monitor, and analyze

         25  these data, they'd have results sooner than if they
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          2  wait for completion of the Pace University project.

          3                 From a scientific standpoint,

          4  instrumenting multiple roofs of differing design and

          5  storm water capture rate specifications would

          6  provide the added benefit of a wider range of data

          7  in order to aid in making better informed decisions

          8  on BMP implementations moving forward.

          9                 Additionally, there's already a

         10  significant amount of research that reports specific

         11  amounts and rates of storm water capture on green

         12  roofs from other cities such as Chicago, Seattle,

         13  Toronto, Berlin and Tokyo.

         14                 These research reports could be

         15  extrapolated to fit New York City's needs.  I would

         16  be more than happy to share these with any City

         17  Council Members and staff and everyone at DEP

         18  electronically at zero strain to the DEP budget.

         19                 Finally, aside from green roofs,

         20  there are many other existing BMP's throughout New

         21  York City including, but not limited to, Community

         22  Garden, Rain Water Harvesting, and DOT Parks'

         23  sponsored Green Streets.  DEP might consider making

         24  investments in monitoring these projects as well.

         25                 As a member of the Water Resources
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          2  Group and SWIM, Storm Water Infrastructure Matters,

          3  I can assure that these groups overseeing these

          4  projects would certainly be happy to assist DEP with

          5  the data collection.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.  I

          7  just want to thank you, Daniel, for being here, for

          8  giving us that information about green roofs.

          9  Certainly, it is an interest of ours as well and I

         10  just want to thank everyone from the Gaia Institute,

         11  particularly, Paul Mancowitz (phonetic), a great

         12  friend of mine.

         13                 MS. BREEN: Can I just point out that

         14  NYPIRG is also a member of SWIM, which is Storm

         15  Water Infrastructure Matters, and I think it's a

         16  very important point that Paul brought up with

         17  respect to the New York City's Waterways surrounding

         18    --  You see me all the time on watershed issues

         19  per say, but I'm also working on New York City's

         20  Waterways.  So I just wanted to point that out.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         22  Thank you, Cathleen and thank you, Daniel.  I

         23  appreciate your being here.

         24                 With that said this hearing is

         25  adjourned.  I want to thank everyone for coming here
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          2  and participating and this will be followed up.

          3                 Once the Mayor releases his Executive

          4  Budget, there will another round of hearings and so

          5  this will continue.  Thank you.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 5:00 p.m.)
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